

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings (Review)

Pizarro AB, Persad E, Durao S, Nussbaumer-Streit B, Engela-Volker JS, McElvenny D, Rhodes S, Stocking K, Fletcher T, Martin C, Noertjojo K, Sampson O, Verbeek JH, Jørgensen KJ, Bruschettini M

Pizarro AB, Persad E, Durao S, Nussbaumer-Streit B, Engela-Volker JS, McElvenny D, Rhodes S, Stocking K, Fletcher T, Martin C, Noertjojo K, Sampson O, Verbeek JH, Jørgensen KJ, Bruschettini M. Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2022, Issue 5. Art. No.: CD015112. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD015112.pub2.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY	3
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS	4
BACKGROUND	6
OBJECTIVES	7
METHODS	7
RESULTS	13
Figure 1	14
Figure 2.	17
DISCUSSION	19
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	20
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	20
REFERENCES	22
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES	27
RISK OF BIAS	30
DATA AND ANALYSES	31
Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1: Test-based attendance versus standard 10-day self-isolation, Outcome 1: Rates of symptomatic PCR positive SARS-CoV-2 infection	32
Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1: Test-based attendance versus standard 10-day self-isolation, Outcome 2: Rates of any positive PCR SARS-CoV-2 infection	32
Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1: Test-based attendance versus standard 10-day self-isolation, Outcome 3: Absenteeism	32
APPENDICES	33
HISTORY	41
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	41
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	42
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	42
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW	43
NOTES	43



Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings

Ana Beatriz Pizarro¹, Emma Persad², Solange Durao³, Barbara Nussbaumer-Streit², Jean S Engela-Volker⁴, Damien McElvenny⁵, Sarah Rhodes⁶, Katie Stocking⁷, Tony Fletcher⁸, Craig Martin⁹, Kukuh Noertjojo⁹, Olivia Sampson⁹, Jos H Verbeek¹⁰, Karsten Juhl Jørgensen¹¹, Matteo Bruschettini^{12,13}

¹Clinical Research Center, Fundación Valle del Lili, Cali, Colombia. ²Cochrane Austria, Department for Evidence-based Medicine and Evaluation, Danube University Krems, Krems, Austria. ³Cochrane South Africa, South African Medical Research Council, Cape Town, South Africa. ⁴Division of Population Medicine, Cardiff University School of Medicine, Cardiff, UK. ⁵Centre for Occupational and Environmental Health, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. ⁶Division of Population Health, Health Services Research and Primary Care, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. ⁷Centre for Biostatistics, School of Health Sciences, Faculty of Biology, Medicine and Health, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK. ⁸Epidemiology Department, Public Health England Centre for Radiation Chemical and Environmental Hazards (CRCE), London, UK. ⁹WorkSafe BC, WorkSafe BC, Richmond, Canada. ¹⁰Cochrane Work Group, Amsterdam, Finland. ¹¹Centre for Evidence-Based Medicine Odense (CEBMO) and Cochrane Denmark, Department of Clinical Research, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark. ¹²Cochrane Sweden, Lund University, Skåne University Hospital, Lund, Sweden. ¹³Department of Clinical Sciences Lund, Paediatrics, Lund University, Skåne University Hospital, Lund, Sweden

Contact: Matteo Bruschettini, matteo.bruschettini@med.lu.se.

Editorial group: Cochrane Work Group. Publication status and date: New, published in Issue 5, 2022.

Citation: Pizarro AB, Persad E, Durao S, Nussbaumer-Streit B, Engela-Volker JS, McElvenny D, Rhodes S, Stocking K, Fletcher T, Martin C, Noertjojo K, Sampson O, Verbeek JH, Jørgensen KJ, Bruschettini M.Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2022, Issue 5. Art. No.: CD015112. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD015112.pub2.

Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Although many people infected with SARS-CoV-2 (severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2) experience no or mild symptoms, some individuals can develop severe illness and may die, particularly older people and those with underlying medical problems. Providing evidence-based interventions to prevent SARS-CoV-2 infection has become more urgent with the spread of more infectious SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern (VoC), and the potential psychological toll imposed by the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic.

Controlling exposures to occupational hazards is the fundamental method of protecting workers. When it comes to the transmission of viruses, such as SARS-CoV-2, workplaces should first consider control measures that can potentially have the most significant impact. According to the hierarchy of controls, one should first consider elimination (and substitution), then engineering controls, administrative controls, and lastly, personal protective equipment (PPE).

Objectives

To assess the benefits and harms of interventions in non-healthcare-related workplaces to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection relative to other interventions, or no intervention.

Search methods

We searched MEDLINE, Embase, Web of Science, Cochrane COVID-19 Study Register, the Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety (CCOHS), Clinicaltrials.gov, and the International Clinical Trials Registry Platform to 14 September 2021. We will conduct an update of this review in six months.



Selection criteria

We included randomised control trials (RCT) and planned to include non-randomised studies of interventions. We included adult workers, both those who come into close contact with clients or customers (e.g. public-facing employees, such as cashiers or taxi drivers), and those who do not, but who could be infected by co-workers. We excluded studies involving healthcare workers. We included any intervention to prevent or reduce workers' exposure to SARS-CoV-2 in the workplace, defining categories of intervention according to the hierarchy of hazard controls, i.e. elimination; engineering controls; administrative controls; personal protective equipment.

Data collection and analysis

We used standard Cochrane methods. Our primary outcomes were incidence rate of SARS-CoV-2 infection (or other respiratory viruses), SARS-CoV-2-related mortality, adverse events, and absenteeism from work. Our secondary outcomes were all-cause mortality, quality of life, hospitalisation, and uptake, acceptability, or adherence to strategies. We used the Cochrane RoB 2 tool to assess the risk of bias, and GRADE methods to assess the certainty of evidence for each outcome.

Main results

Elimination of exposure interventions

We included one study examining an intervention that focused on elimination of hazards. This study is an open-label, cluster-randomised, non-inferiority trial, conducted in England in 2021. The study compared standard 10-day self-isolation after contact with an infected person to a new strategy of daily rapid antigen testing and staying at work if the test is negative (test-based attendance). The trialists hypothesised that this would lead to a similar rate of infections, but lower COVID-related absence. Staff (N = 11,798) working at 76 schools were assigned to standard isolation, and staff (N = 12,229) at 86 schools to the test-based attendance strategy.

The results between test-based attendance and standard 10-day self-isolation were inconclusive for the rate of symptomatic PCR-positive SARS-COV-2 infection rate ratio ((RR) 1.28, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.74 to 2.21; 1 study, very low-certainty evidence)).

The results between test-based attendance and standard 10-day self-isolation were inconclusive for the rate of any PCR-positive SARS-COV-2 infection (RR 1.35, 95% CI 0.82 to 2.21; 1 study, very low-certainty evidence).

COVID-related absenteeism rates were 3704 absence days in 566,502 days-at-risk (6.5 per 1000 days at risk) in the control group and 2932 per 539,805 days-at-risk (5.4 per 1000 days at risk) in the intervention group (RR 0.83; 95% CI 0.55 to 1.25). The certainty of the evidence was downgraded to low, due to imprecision.

Uptake of the intervention was 71 % in the intervention group, but not reported for the control intervention.

The trial did not measure other outcomes, SARS-CoV-2-related mortality, adverse events, all-cause mortality, quality of life, and hospitalisation.

We found one ongoing RCT about screening in schools, using elimination of hazard strategies.

Personal protective equipment

We found one ongoing non-randomised study on the effects of closed face shields to prevent COVID-19 transmission.

Other intervention categories

We did not find studies in the other intervention categories.

Authors' conclusions

We are uncertain whether a test-based attendance policy affects rates of PCR-postive SARS-CoV-2 infection (any infection; symptomatic infection) compared to standard 10-day self-isolation amongst school and college staff. Test-based attendance policy may result in little to no difference in absence rates compared to standard 10-day self-isolation.

As a large part of the population is exposed in the case of a pandemic, an apparently small relative effect that would not be worthwhile from the individual perspective may still affect many people, and thus, become an important absolute effect from the enterprise or societal perspective.

The included study did not report on any other primary outcomes of our review, i.e. SARS-CoV-2-related mortality and adverse events. No completed studies were identified on any other interventions specified in this review, but two eligible studies are ongoing. More controlled studies are needed on testing and isolation strategies, and working from home, as these have important implications for work organisations.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Interventions to reduce the risk of coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 (severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2) infection among workers outside healthcare settings

What is the aim of this review?

Coronavirus (COVID-19) is a respiratory infectious disease that has spread globally. People infected with SARS-CoV-2 (severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2) can develop critical illnesses and may die, particularly older people, and those with underlying medical problems. Different interventions that attempt to prevent or reduce workers' exposure to SARS-CoV-2 in the workplace have been implemented during the pandemic. This Cochrane Review evaluated the effects of these interventions on the COVID-19 infection-rate, absenteeism, COVID-19-related mortality, and adverse events.

What was studied in this review?

We searched for studies that examined interventions according to the following four categories: 1) elimination (for example self-isolation strategies); 2) engineering controls (for example barriers to separate or distance co-workers, and workers from members of the public); 3) administrative controls (for example working from home); 4) personal protective equipment (for example use of face masks or other types of face covering). We included studies of any worker outside the healthcare setting. We searched for studies without language or time restrictions.

What are the main findings of this review?

We screened more than 13 thousand reports, and included one study, conducted in 162 secondary and post-secondary schools in England, from March to June 2021. The study enrolled more than 24 thousand workers. In the 86 schools in the control group (standard isolation), staff who were considered COVID-19 contacts through contact tracing were required to self-isolate at home for 10 days. In the 76 schools in the intervention group (test-based attendance), staff who were considered COVID-19 contacts through contact tracing were not required to isolate. Instead, they took a daily rapid test (lateral flow antigen test) for seven days. If the rapid test was negative, the staff member would self-isolate. The researchers wanted to know if there was a difference in COVID-related absence between the two methods.

We are uncertain whether a strategy of test-based attendance changes COVID-19 infection rates (any infection; symptomatic infection) compared with routine isolation after contact with a person with COVID-19. COVID-related absence may be lower or similar in the test-based attendance group. However, we were uncertain about these findings, because the number of infections was very low among the participants. Mortality, adverse events, quality of life, and hospitalisation were not measured. Seventy-one per cent of the test-based attendance group followed the strategy; the researchers did not report on compliance for the standard isolation group.

We identified one ongoing study that also addressed the effects of screening in schools.

Another ongoing study is evaluating the effects of using a face shield to prevent COVID-19 transmission.

We did not find any studies that studied engineering or administrative controls.

How up-to-date is this review?

We searched for studies that were available up to 14 September 2021.

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

Summary of findings 1. Test-based attendance compared to routine isolation after contact with a SARS-CoV-2 positive person

Test-based attendance compared to standard 10-day self-isolation after contact with a SARS-CoV-2-positive person

Patient or population: school staff

Setting: schools in England

Intervention: test-based attendance after contact with a SARS-CoV-2-positive person (category: elimination) Comparison: standard 10-day self-isolation after contact with a SARS-CoV-2-positive person

Outcomes Anticipated absolute effects* (95% CI)		Relative effect (95% CI)	№ of partici- pants (studies)	Certainty of the evidence (GRADE)	Comments		
	Risk with stan- dard 10-day self-isolation	Risk with test- based atten- dance					
Rates of symptomatic PCR-positive SARS-	Low risk of infecti	on	RR 1.28	24,027 staff in 162 schools (1	⊕⊝⊝⊝ Very low 12	We are uncertain whether test-based atten- dance affects rates of symptomatic PCR-pos-	
CoV-2 infection	38.1 cases per 100,000 per- sons per week	48.7 cases per 100,000 persons per week	(011102122)	RCT)	very low	itive SARS-CoV-2 infection compared to stan- dard 10 day self-isolation.	
Rates of any PCR-posi- tive SARS-CoV-2 infec- tion (over 13-week follow-up)	Low risk of infection		RR 1.35 (0.82 to	24,027 staff in	⊕⊝⊝⊝ Vony low 1.2	We are uncertain whether test-based atten- dance affects rates of any PCR-positive SARS-	
	53.8 cases per 100,000 popula- tion per week	72.4 cases per 100,000 popula- tion per week	2.21)	RCT)	very low	CoV-2 infection compared to standard 10 day self-isolation.	
SARS-CoV-2-related mortality	-	-	-	-	-	This outcome was not measured.	
Adverse events	-	-	-	-	-	This outcome was not measured.	
COVID-related absen-	Low risk of absence		RR 0.83 (0.55 to	24,027 staff in	⊕⊕⊝⊝ Low 2	In absolute terms, this is an MD of 0.07 days.	
Days absent per 1000 working days (over 13-week follow-up)	6.5 days per 1000 working days	5.4 days per 1000 working days		RCT)		year, this corresponds to an average reduc- tion of 0.25 day (95% CI - 0.66 to 0.51) ab- sence per person per year in the test-based attendance group, over the standard 10-day self-isolation group.	

4

All-cause mortality	-	-	-	-	-	This outcome was not measured.
Quality of life	-	-	-	-	-	This outcome was not measured.
Hospitalisation	-	-	-	-	-	This outcome was not measured.
Adherence to strate- gies: uptake of rapid antigen test (over 13-week follow-up)	Use of self-iso- lation not re- ported	Only measured in this group; 179/253 (71%) contacts of an in- dex case adhered to test-based at- tendance	-	253 (1 RCTs)	-	Not estimable because adherence was on- ly measured in the test-based attendance group.

*The risk in the intervention group (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the average risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (and its 95% CI).

CI: confidence interval;**MD:** mean difference;**RR:** rate ratio;

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High certainty: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect.

Moderate certainty: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different.

Low certainty: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect.

Very low certainty: we have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

¹ downgraded one level for risk of bias: considerable missing data for PCR-tests for staff (data were available for 76% control schools and 83% intervention schools) ² downgraded two levels for imprecision: the confidence intervals are wide and the 95% CI crosses the line of no effect ochrane

Trusted evidence. Informed decision Better health.

BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is an infectious disease caused by the novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 (severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2), which first appeared in late 2019. Its development was declared a global health emergency on 31 January 2020, and a pandemic on 11 March 2020 (WHO 2020a).

The principal mode of SARS-CoV-2 transmission is exposure to respiratory fluids carrying this virus. Generally, exposure occurs in these three, not mutually exclusive, ways:

- inhalation of very fine respiratory droplets and aerosol particles;
- deposition of respiratory droplets and particles on exposed mucous membranes in the mouth, nose, or eye by direct splashes and sprays; or
- touching mucous membranes with hands that have been soiled either directly by virus-containing respiratory fluids or by touching surfaces with the virus on them (CDC 2021a; CDC 2021b).

Prior to vaccination, studies showed that estimated proportions of asymptomatic people and their relative contribution to transmission varied widely (O'Keeffe 2021). Some estimates suggest 30% are asymptomatic (Byambasuren 2020; Oran 2021); and most others experience mild symptoms, such as cough, fever, headache, fatigue, and other nonspecific symptoms (Gandhi 2020). But there is a spectrum of illness severity. Some people develop severe illness, particularly older people and those with underlying medical problems, such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, chronic respiratory disease, or cancer, and might have a fatal outcome. People with severe cases may require critical care due to respiratory failure, sepsis, or multi-organ failure (Berlin 2020). In addition, some adults and children can develop longterm debilitating effects after the disease, resulting in so-called post-acute sequelae of SARS-CoV-2 infection (PASC, also known as 'long COVID' (Bruchfeld 2020; Osmanov 2021)). On average, it takes five to six days from the infection to the development of symptoms, but it has been reported to take as little as two days (for example, incubation is shorter for the Omicron variant, detected in late 2021), and up to 14 days (Lauer 2020; Yu 2020). The median time from symptom onset to diagnosis ranges between four and eight days, with hospital admission around day six for those with more severe disease (Chotirmall 2021). The infection fatality rate has been estimated to be around 0.68%, but variability in testing activity means any such estimate is uncertain (Meyerowitz-Katz 2020).

The pandemic has had profound impacts on the nature and availability of work worldwide (Semple 2020; Sim 2020). As part of the public health response to SARS-CoV-2, governments and the private sector across the globe have temporarily closed nonessential workplaces; that is, workplaces that do not operate or provide services that are typically essential to continued, critical infrastructure viability (CISA 2021). This has resulted in large numbers of workers moving to remote work, while others have lost their jobs or had their hours significantly reduced. As societies have begun to re-open, following widespread vaccination of parts of their populations, it is essential to identify workplace interventions that will enable safe reintegration into the workplace for individuals and society at large. Since the advent of the pandemic, epidemiological studies have explored strategies to prevent or reduce infection rates among healthcare workers (Chou 2020; Nguyen 2020). However, many non-healthcare workers (non-HCWs) are also at increased risk (Kim 2020). These include police, workers providing social or homecare services, childcare, and education, cleaners, those in the hospitality industry, public transport workers and taxi drivers, and workers in the meat processing industries, amongst others (Sim 2020).

COVID-19 outbreaks occurred in meat and poultry processing facilities, particularly in 2020, in the earlier part of the pandemic, in countries worldwide, including Germany, the UK, Ireland, Portugal, and the USA (Durand-Moreau 2020; Günther 2020; Herstein 2021; Price 2020). Studies showed that meat processing plants might be transmission vectors, playing a role in local community transmission (Althouse 2020; Taylor 2020). For example, data from Nebraska, USA, indicated that the total excess COVID-19 morbidity associated with proximity to livestock plants was 236,000 to 310,000 (6% to 8% of all US cases), with 4300 to 5200 deaths (3% to 4% of all US deaths), during April to July 2020 (Herstein 2021).

Studies also reported that essential workers in livestock processing plants were more likely to be from an ethnic minority compared to non-essential workers (Reid 2021; Waltenburg 2021). Migrant workers, in particular, have experienced a disproportionately high risk of adverse outcomes with COVID-19 (Roberts 2020). In some instances, meat processing workplaces are crowded, and social distancing is difficult. Ambient temperature, humidity, ventilation, air recirculation, and aerosolisation are also significant factors facilitating SARS-CoV-2 dissemination and transmission in these environments (Donaldson 2020; Kumar 2021; Middleton 2020; Morris 2020; Ursachi 2021). Policy responses to the ongoing operational activity of meat processing industries had to find a balance between supporting essential supply chains and mitigating SARS-CoV-2 transmission (Taylor 2020). In the first few months of the pandemic, and prior to the availability of COVID-19 vaccines, face masks and partition barriers, for example, showed a statistically significant reduction in COVID-19 incidence in some meat processing facilities (Herstein 2021). Other strategies to decrease transmission include screening workers for symptoms, appropriate sickness and absence policy changes, and disinfection of high-touch surfaces. Businesses and employers can play a crucial role in preventing or slowing the spread of SARS-CoV-2 within the workplace.

Providing evidence-based interventions to prevent SARS-CoV-2 infection among non-HCWs has become more urgent with the reopening of the economy, the spread of more infectious SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern (VoC), and the potential psychological toll imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic (Allen 2021). The lessons learned from the experience with the COVID-19 pandemic will likely inform the appropriate risk mitigation measures that need to be in place to reduce adverse societal impacts of possible future waves of the pandemic, and for future pandemics of a similar nature.

Description of the intervention

This review focused on non-healthcare work settings. We attempted to include all workers in close contact with potentially infectious individuals, such as public transportation personnel, cashiers in grocery stores, and staff in restaurants. We also included workers without close contact with clients and the potential to be infected by colleagues, such as office workers,

or break rooms in other non-healthcare work settings. Adopting the classic epidemiological triad model of Agent, Host, and Environment (Khan 2020), and using a hierarchy of control concepts in occupational health and safety studies (as outlined in a Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety document (CCOHS 2020)), we included any type of intervention to limit SARS-CoV-2 transmission that could be implemented in workplaces of interest. Accordingly, we included these types of interventions.

- The elimination of procedures, or substitution of alternative methods, or both, to achieve the same workplace outcomes, but reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 exposure. This might include automating processes or providing education regarding COVID-19 symptoms and sickness-absence policies for workers with symptoms.
- Engineering controls are the controls built into the design of the plant, equipment, or process. These measures do not rely on human behaviour, since they are 'in place' at all times. In the case of COVID-19, engineering controls may reduce viral transmission, for example, by providing barriers or by reconfiguring workplaces to minimise contact with coworkers or clients, and with environmental measures, such as reengineering of air ventilation and purification methods.
- Administrative controls are processes that limit a worker's exposure through rules or procedures. Administrative controls may reduce potential viral transmission in the workplace through health check declarations prior to coming to the workplace, flexible working hours, and by providing appropriate spacing between workers in the workplace.
- Personal protection equipment (PPE). Although engineering and administrative controls should be considered first, because they do not rely on human behaviour and usually have fewer side effects, the use of PPE should also be considered, because so far, we do not know if the other strategies are fully effective. Workers in all risk groups may need one or more piece of PPE, including face masks or respirators, face shields, goggles, gloves, and gowns, based on their job tasks and their risk levels.

How the intervention might work

Realising that COVID-19 is primarily spread from person to person, it is essential to reduce the risk of exposure to SARS-CoV-2, based on workers' potential levels of exposure in their workplaces. Within the concept of the hierarchy of controls, elimination of coronavirus is preferred over other control measures. However, it may not always be possible to eliminate COVID-19 from the workplace; to minimise the probability of exposure to SARS-CoV- 2, other measures may be needed to avoid new infections due to the spread of the virus. Engineering controls, followed by administrative controls, and PPE, potentially have the most significant impact on controlling the exposure to COVID-19.

The epidemiological triad concept outlines that the agent causes the disease, the host harbours the disease, and the environment allows, or facilitates disease transmission (Khan 2020). The Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety used a hierarchy of controls, i.e. a step-by-step approach to eliminating or reducing risks by ranking risk controls from the highest level of protection and reliability, through to the lowest and least reliable protection, in their proposed workplace safety guide for reducing SARS-CoV-2 (CCOHS 2020). Our group considered that the interventions might work by reducing or eliminating transmission of the agent to the host by reducing the duration of infectiousness after a person becomes infected; reducing or eliminating the likelihood of infection per contact between a susceptible person and an infectious person; and reducing or removing the contact rate of an infectious person with healthy individuals (Delamater 2019). In addition to the use of PPE, several studies reported that measures, like social distancing, appropriate hand hygiene, addressing ventilation systems, addressing work procedures (such as self-administered health screening), minimising face-to-face contacts, and other endeavours, helped to reduce transmissions (Baptista 2021; Clancy 2021; Faghri 2021; Haug 2020, US OSHA 2020; OSHA 2021).

Why it is important to do this review

Work is an integral part of life and is central to individual identity, social roles, social status, and meeting financial and psychosocial needs. There is strong evidence that employment leads to better health, improving people's quality of life and well-being in many realms (Waddell 2006).

During this COVID-19 pandemic, there have been massive declines in economic activities, manifested by sharp declines in states' gross domestic product, and sharp increases in unemployment, beginning as early as March 2020 (Fomenko 2021). Further, measures to prevent and control infections implemented during the pandemic - such as physical distancing, quarantine, and restrictions on social contacts - contributed to adverse mental health issues, including increased depression and anxiety (Rauschenberg 2021; Sigahi 2021). Much of the research since the advent of the COVID-19 pandemic has focused on preventing or reducing infection among healthcare workers. At present, there are at least six Cochrane Reviews associated with COVID-19 interventions to prevent infection among healthcare workers (Burton 2020a; Burton 2020b; Burton 2020c; Houghton 2020; Nagraj 2020; Verbeek 2020). So far, non-healthcare workers have received less attention. However, providing evidence-based interventions to prevent workplace-related COVID-19 transmission among nonhealthcare workers has become more urgent with the re-opening of the economy, the spread of more infectious SARS-CoV-2 variants, and the potential psychological toll imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic (Altmann 2021; Htay 2020; Moore 2021; Shaw 2020).

OBJECTIVES

To assess the benefits and harms of interventions in nonhealthcare-related workplaces to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection relative to other interventions, or no intervention.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We included any study that compared outcomes in an intervention group to outcomes in a control group that did not get the intervention, or that got an alternative intervention. We included randomised control trials (RCT) and non-randomised studies of interventions (NRSI); that is, prospective experimental studies with a concurrent control group in which the allocation of participants to intervention and control groups was not random (e.g. participants chose by themselves, or control participants belonged to another work organisation).



We did not include observational studies, such as natural experiments, in which the researchers did not introduce the intervention, because the causal pathways can be difficult to identify. We did not include cross-sectional studies, because disease incidence can fluctuate rapidly, and any temporal association is impossible to determine. We did not include mathematical modelling studies due to their many assumptions.

We included studies reported as full-text articles, those published as abstracts only, and unpublished data. We also included preprints. We did not impose any language or date restrictions.

Types of participants

We included adults (> 18 years), both those who come into close contact with people (e.g. public-facing employees, such as cashiers or taxi drivers), and those who do not, but who can be infected by co-workers. We excluded studies involving healthcare workers (including dentists and other dental health professionals), as they are considered in separate Cochrane Reviews. We included studies on workers at social and homecare services if they were not caring for people with SARS-CoV-2. We included studies in paid workers (i.e. employed workers), and excluded studies exclusively in people working on a volunteer basis. We excluded studies in children in primary and secondary school, and students in postsecondary educational facilities.

We planned to include studies on severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) and the Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS). We planned to differentiate between direct evidence from SARS-CoV-2 studies, and indirect evidence from SARS and MERS studies in subgroup analyses (Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity).

We included any study in which at least 80% of the participants met the review criteria defined above, or if there were separate data available for the relevant subset of participants of interest. We planned to explore differences in subgroup analyses.

Types of interventions

We included interventions that attempted to prevent or reduce workers' exposure to SARS-CoV-2 in the workplace. We defined categories of interventions according to the hierarchy of hazard controls. Consequently, eligible interventions for our review were as follows.

Elimination (i.e. eliminating the source of SARS-CoV-2)

- Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) or rapid antigen testing with self-isolation policy, and quarantining close contact co-workers policy
- Education regarding COVID-19 symptoms, and sickness absence policy for symptomatic workers
- Automated processes (e.g. production lines)
- Engineering controls
- Walk-through disinfection systems
- Air purification systems (including, but not limited to, misting or fogging machines, or high-efficiency particulate absorbing (HEPA) filters)
- Installation of, or improvement to ventilation (including installation of new systems)

- Barriers to separate or distance co-workers and workers from members of the public (e.g. perspex, glass, metal shield)
- Use of ultraviolet (UV) lighting
- Reconfiguration of the workplace to minimise contact with the public (e.g. safe collection points for customers)
- Closing work areas to prevent groups of people from assembling (including cafeterias)

Administrative controls

- Vaccination of workers (where this existed specific to a workforce or workplace)
- Distancing between colleagues in the workplace (so-called social distancing), including details of distance used (e.g. 1 m, 2 m, etc.)
- Hand-washing protocols (including use of hand sanitisers)
- Working from home (WFH; where it was possible). Also, allowing flexible work hours to facilitate home-schooling, and other caregiver responsibilities.
- Checking temperature (i.e. thermal screening) upon entering the workplace (could also include formal screening for symptoms)
- Workplace cleaning and disinfecting regimes (i.e. infection prevention and control (IPC) policies and standard operating procedures)
- Use of online, rather than face-to-face meetings (i.e. remote working arrangements)
- Cancelling or curtailing work-based travel
- Variation in start times, finish times, lunch, and other work breaks to minimise contact with work colleagues (i.e. staggered rosters)
- Forming 'isolation bubbles' within the workplace to avoid mixing between different work teams (i.e. staffing bubbles)
- Facilitating travel to work in private cars, rather than having to use public transport (e.g. paying for parking)
- Cancelling work-related out-of-hour social activities
- Introducing one-way walk systems in workplaces
- Paid sick days

Personal protective equipment (PPE), including, but not limited to:

- Use of face masks or other types of face covering, including respirators, surgical masks, or self-made masks, e.g. N95, N99, FFP2, FFP3, FRSM Type IIR, KN-95, KN94, other respirators
- Using face shields, visors, anti-mist screens
- Using goggles, glasses
- Using gloves, double gloves
- Using long-sleeved, water-resistant gowns and other water-resistant, or disposable body coverings, double gowns
- Using shoe covers
 - Using caps

We included interventions not listed here that aimed to reduce exposure to SARS-CoV-2 in the workplace.

We included combinations of eligible interventions.

Eligible interventions may be compared to:

Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings (Review) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



- Standard IPC practices in the workplace before the COVID-19 pandemic (e.g. what deviation, if any, from pre-existing IPC standard operating procedures were initiated since the COVID-19 epidemic);
- No intervention to reduce exposure to SARS-CoV-2;
- A different intervention to reduce exposure to SARS-CoV-2; or
- Various combinations of interventions to reduce exposure to SARS-CoV-2.

Types of outcome measures

Where applicable, we specified relevant time frames, and how the outcomes may be measured. However, we acknowledge that exact details are difficult to determine in a rapidly changing situation, and additional measures may be important. We considered the following follow-up times for outcome measurement: short-term, defined as less than 3 months after the intervention started; medium-term, defined as between 3 and 12 months; and long-term, defined as 12 months or longer. When multiple time points were reported, we included the longest follow-up time from each study for analysis. We reported all follow-up time data descriptively.

We considered SARS-CoV-2 infections and other respiratory diseases (SARS, MERS) as surrogates for exposure to SARS-CoV-2, (SARS-CoV-1, MERS-CoV). Development of a core outcome set (COS) for COVID-19 prevention interventions, the COS COVID-P study, is underway (COMET 2021). Work so far recommends that COVID-19 infection is an essential outcome to measure in prevention studies, but has found that a number of different definitions are used (COMET 2021).

Primary outcomes

- 1. Incidence rate of SARS-CoV-2 infection (or other respiratory viruses)
- 2. SARS-CoV-2-related mortality
- 3. Adverse events, including but not limited to cutaneous and respiratory reactions, accidents, depression, anxiety (as defined by the authors)
- 4. Absenteeism from work

Depending on the unit of intervention, the denominator for primary outcomes was either the number of workplace employees, if the intervention was directed towards workers; or the number of workplaces, if the intervention was directed at the workplace, or a part of it. In summary, the intervention might take place at either the individual or the workplace level.

The primary analysis from outcomes relating to COVID-19 included all direct evidence, regardless of the risk of bias. When SARS or MERS were targeted, we planned to report outcome data separately, as a subgroup in forest plots, and not combine them with COVID-19 data.

We accepted any definition of a case of COVID-19 provided by the study authors. When both suspected and confirmed cases were given for the same study, we used the most reliable measure (e.g. cases confirmed through PCR test).

Secondary outcomes

- 1. All-cause mortality
- 2. Quality of life (as defined by authors)

- 3. Hospitalisation
- 4. Uptake, acceptability, or adherence to strategies (e.g. use of hand sanitiser, wearing of face masks, degree of social distancing), measured using ordinal (e.g. Likert scale) or dichotomous (e.g. yes/no) data measures

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We conducted a systematic literature search to identify all published and unpublished trials eligible to include in this review. We adapted the search strategy we developed for MEDLINE Ovid to use in the other electronic databases (see Appendix 1). We used the following search strategies to develop our search.

- We modified COVID-19 terms for the MEDLINE strategy from the CADTH Respiratory Pandemics (including COVID-19, SARS, and MERS) MEDLINE filter (covid.cadth.ca/literature-searchingtools/cadth-covid-19-search-strings/#covid-19-medline).
- We modified the study design filter from the CADTH Randomised Controlled Trials/ Controlled Clinical Trials, based on MEDLINE OVID, Embase Elsevier, and PsycINFO filters (www.cadth.ca/resources/finding-evidence/ strings-attached-cadths-database-search-filters#rand).
- The workplace's text words for occupational categories were informed by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Interim List of Categories of Essential Workers (www.cdc.gov/ vaccines/covid-19/categories-essential-workers.html).

We imposed no language restrictions. We planned to translate key sections of potentially eligible non-English language papers, or arrange for people proficient in the publications' languages to assess the full text for potential inclusion.

We searched the following electronic databases from their inception:

- Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL; 2021, Issue 9) in the Cochrane Library; (searched 20 September 2021; Appendix 2);
- MEDLINE Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations, MEDLINE® Daily and Ovid MEDLINE® Ovid (1946 to 14 September 2021; Appendix 1);
- Embase Elsevier (Embase.com; 16 September 2021; Appendix 2);
- NIOSHTIC-2 (OSH-UPDATE; National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health bibliographic database; oshreferences.ccohs.ca; searched 14 September 2021; Appendix 3);
- HSELINE (OSH-UPDATE; Health and Safety Executive Library and Information Service; oshreferences.ccohs.ca; searched 14 September 2021; Appendix 3);
- CISDOC (OSH-UPDATE; International Labor Organization Occupational Safety and Health bibliographic database; oshreferences.ccohs.ca; searched 14 September 2021; Appendix 3
- CISILO (International Occupational Safety and Health Information Centre bibliographic database; oshreferences.ccohs.ca; searched 14 September 2021; Appendix 3;



- Web of Science Core Collections (searched 16 September 2021; Appendix 2)
 - Science Citation Index Expanded (SCI-EXPANDED; 1900 to 16 September 2021)
 - Social Sciences Citation Index (SSCI; 1956 to 16 September 2021)
 - Arts & Humanities Citation Index (A&HCI; 1975 to 16 September 2021);
 - Conference Proceedings Citation Index Science (CPCI-S; 1990 to 16 September 2021)
 - Conference Proceedings Citation Index Social Science & Humanities (CPCI-SSH; 1990 to 16 September 2021)
 - Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI; 2015 to 16 September 2021)
- Cochrane COVID-19 Study Register (covid-19.cochrane.org/);
 via the Cochrane Register of Studies (crsweb.cochrane.org/;
 searched 20 September 2021; Appendix 2);
- World Health Organization (WHO) COVID-19 Global literature on coronavirus disease (search.bvsalud.org/global-literature-onnovel-coronavirus-2019-ncov/; searched 20 September 2021).

We also searched for unpublished and ongoing trials in ClinicalTrials.gov (www.clinicaltrials.gov/), the WHO International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (www.who.int/clinical-trials-registry-platform), and medRxiv (www.medrxiv.org/; searched 20 September 2021; Appendix 2).

If studies were published in languages other than those the review team could accommodate (Danish, Dutch, English, French, German, Italian, Portuguese, Spanish, and Swedish), we planned to involve Cochrane's TaskExchange platform to identify people within Cochrane to translate these studies.

We will conduct an update of this review in six months.

Searching other resources

We checked the reference lists of all primary studies and review articles identified by the search strategies for additional references. We planned to contact experts in the field to identify further unpublished studies.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

We screened titles and abstracts using Covidence (Covidence). Pairs of review authors (ABP, KN, SR, KS, EP, BNS, JEV, OS, SD, DM, TF, MB) independently screened titles and abstracts in, and excluded studies that did not fulfil the criteria for inclusion.

We retrieved the full text of potentially eligible records, and a pair of review authors (ABP, KN, SR, KS, EP, BNS, JEV, OS, DM, MB) independently assessed these to identify studies for inclusion. We resolved any disagreements through discussion, or if required, by consulting a third review author (SD or CM).

We recorded reasons for excluding studies assessed at the full-text screening stage, and reported this in the characteristics of excluded studies table, and a PRISMA flow chart.

We identified and excluded duplicates, and collated multiple reports of the same study, so that each study was the unit of interest.

If our systematic searches had identified studies conducted by authors of this review, we planned to avoid conflict of interest, by having all decisions concerning inclusion and exclusion, data extraction, and risk of bias assessment made by review authors who were not involved with the study.

Because of the breadth of the review, review authors communicated regularly while screening, to monitor the process and align judgments.

We documented the details of the search strategy, and the number of records retrieved from each database (total number retrieved) or internet search (total number screened) in accordance with PRISMA guidance (Page 2021).

Data extraction and management

We used a data collection form for study characteristics and outcome data, which was piloted on two studies, representing different intervention types. Pairs of review authors (ABP, KN, EP, BNS, SD, JEV, SR, KS) independently extracted the following study characteristics from included studies.

- 1. Publication details: author, study source (e.g. journal publication, preprint, peer-reviewed)
- 2. Methods: study design, total duration of the study, study location (e.g. country, city), study setting (e.g. type of workplace), withdrawals or missing data, and how they were handled
- 3. Participants: number included and randomised, mean age or age range, sex/gender, the severity of the condition, diagnostic criteria if applicable, inclusion criteria, and exclusion criteria
- 4. Interventions: description of the intervention (category and type), comparison, duration (including implementation date), intensity, and co-interventions
- 5. Outcomes: description of primary and secondary outcomes, measures specified and collected, and time points for reporting
- 6. Notes: funding, ethical approval, and notable conflicts of interest of trial authors

In the characteristics of included studies tables, we noted if outcome data were not reported in a usable way. We resolved disagreements by consensus, or by involving a third review author (SD, MB, or CM). One review author (ABP) transferred data into RevMan Web (RevMan Web 2020). A second review author (EP) checked study characteristics for accuracy against the primary study.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Pairs of review authors (ABP, SR, KS, EP, BNS, JEV, SD) independently assessed the risk of bias for key outcomes reported in the included study (see list below), using the recent version of the Cochrane RoB 2 tool for cluster RCTs (Sterne 2019), and the criteria outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* for each study design (Higgins 2021; hereafter referred to as the *Cochrane Handbook*). We resolved any disagreements through discussion, or by involving another author (MB or CM).

Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings (Review) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

As we anticipated including a wide array of study designs, we elaborated on multiple potentially applicable tools below, following a recent comparable Cochrane Review on SARS-CoV-2 (Burns 2021).

For randomised controlled trials (RCTs), we used the Cochrane RoB 2 tool, which assesses the risk of bias according to these domains (Appendix 4):

- 1. Bias arising from the randomisation process;
- 2. Bias due to deviations from intended interventions; we were interested in the intention-to-treat effect;
- 3. Bias due to missing outcome data;
- 4. Bias in the measurement of the outcome;
- 5. Bias in the selection of the reported result;
- 6. Overall risk of bias.

As we included a cluster-RCT, we used the ROB 2 tool that assesses an additional domain relevant to the study design, namely, bias arising from the timing of identification or recruitment of participants in a cluster trial. If we had included cross-over trials, we would have used the relevant ROB 2 tool for this study design, which assesses the additional domain: bias arising from the period and carry-over effects.

We used the Excel Tool to implement the RoB 2; last accessed 17 December 2021.

We graded each potential risk of bias as high, low, or some concerns, and provided a quote from the study report, together with a justification for our judgment, in the risk of bias tables. We planned to add additional ROB 2 domains, for other study designs, to the risk of bias tables. We summarised the risk of bias judgments across different studies for each of the domains listed. When information on the risk of bias related to unpublished data or correspondence with a trial author, we planned to note this in the risk of bias table.

Had we included NRSIs, pairs of review authors (ABP, SR, KS, EP, BNS, JEV, SD) would have independently used the ROBINS-I tool to assess the risk of bias of these studies (Sterne 2016). Our target trial against which we planned to assess the risk of bias would be a trial in which adults were assigned to a group with interventions in place that aimed to reduce COVID-19 infection at the workplace, or standard practice, or alternative interventions. We considered the following variables as potential confounders: age, sex, ethnicity, comorbidities, and socioeconomic status. We planned to note any other workplace intervention that was implemented at the same time. We expected that these confounders could potentially affect any of our prespecified outcomes. We planned first to use the signalling questions as prescribed in the ROBINS-I tool, and then assess the risk of bias if these questions indicated a potential risk of bias. We planned to assess the following risk of bias domains.

- 1. Bias due to confounding
- 2. Bias in selection of participants into the study
- 3. Bias in classification of interventions
- 4. Bias due to deviations from the intended interventions (effect of assignment to intervention)
- 5. Bias due to missing outcome data
- 6. Risk of bias in measurement of outcomes

- 7. Risk of bias in the selection of the reported result
- 8. The overall risk of bias

We planned to judge the risk of bias of NRSIs in each domain as low, moderate, serious, or critical.

We assessed the risk of bias for the following key outcomes, which we included in the summary of findings tables.

- 1. The incidence rate of SARS-CoV-2 infection (or other respiratory viruses)
- 2. SARS-CoV-2-related mortality
- 3. Adverse events
- 4. Absenteeism from work
- 5. All-cause mortality
- 6. Quality of life
- 7. Hospitalisation
- 8. Adherence to strategies

For all outcomes, we used the longest reporting time point to assess the risk of bias.

We would have reported the risk of bias for each type of study design separately, however, we only included one study.

Overall risk of bias

We made judgements about the overall risk of bias of trials measuring a particular result according to guidance for the RoB 2 tool (Sterne 2019). We judged a study's overall risk of bias for a particular result as low if we judged it was at low risk of bias for all domains for this result; to raise some concerns if we judged that it raised some concerns in at least one domain for that result, but was not at high risk of bias for any domain; and high when we judged one or more domains at high risk of bias, or we had some concerns for multiple domains for that result. We would have used similar guidance for the ROBINS-I tool if we had included NRSIs (Sterne 2016). We would have judged the overall risk of bias as low if we judged the study at low risk of bias for all domains; as moderate if we judged it at low or moderate risk of bias for all domains; as serious if we judged the risk of bias of at least one domain at serious, but none of the others were at critical risk of bias; and at critical risk of bias if we judged at least one domain at critical risk of bias.

When considering treatment effects, we considered the risk of bias for the studies that contributed to that outcome. We decided not to include any study at critical risk of bias in the analyses.

Assessment of bias in conducting the systematic review

We conducted the review according to the published protocol, and reported any deviations in the Differences between protocol and review section of the review (Pizarro 2021).

Measures of treatment effect

We entered the outcome data for each study into the data tables in RevMan Web to calculate the treatment effects (RevMan Web 2020). When multiple studies reported the same outcome measure, we converted these effect estimates to a common format to allow meta-analysis, comparison, or both. We planned to use odds ratios (OR) for binary outcomes, mean differences (MD) or standardised mean differences (SMD) for continuous outcomes, or other types of data as reported by the study authors. We planned to calculate MDs



when outcomes were measured in the same way, and SMDs when they were measured by similar but different tools. We planned to interpret SMDs in the following manner: 0.2 = small effect; 0.5 = moderate effect; 0.8 = large effect (Schünemann 2020). When binary measures of effect estimates were reported using an alternative format to an OR, we planned to convert alternative effect estimates (risk ratios, risk differences, rate ratio) into odds ratios, using available information (e.g. baseline or control group risk). If it was not possible to convert the reported estimates into OR, we reported them as reported in the included studies.

If only effect estimates and their 95% confidence intervals (CI) or standard errors (SE) were reported in studies, we planned to enter these into RevMan Web, and calculate treatment effects using the generic inverse-variance method (RevMan Web 2020). We planned to ensure that higher scores for continuous outcomes had the same meaning for the particular outcome, explain the direction to the reader, and report when the directions were reversed, if this was necessary. When the results could not be entered for a meta-analysis, we planned to describe them in the characteristics of included studies table, and enter the data into an additional table for easy reference.

For non-randomised studies, we planned to extract the estimate of intervention effect, together with a measure of precision (confidence interval or standard error), and information about the method of analysis, and adjustment for confounders. If both unadjusted and adjusted intervention effects were reported, our preference was to choose adjusted effects. Some non-randomised studies report multiple adjusted estimates from analyses, including different sets of covariates. If multiple adjusted estimates of intervention effect were reported, we planned to choose the one that we judged would minimise the risk of bias due to confounding, after discussion between review authors (see Chapter 25, Section 25.2.1).

Unit of analysis issues

For studies that use a cluster-randomised design, and report sufficient data to include in the meta-analysis, but do not make an allowance for the clustering, we inflated the standard errors, using the design effect. We calculated the design effect based on a fairly large assumed intra-cluster correlation coefficient. We assumed that 0.10 was a realistic estimate, by using studies about implementation research as an analogy (Campbell 2001). We explored this assumption using sensitivity analysis, as clustering may be high in the context of COVID-19. We followed the methods described in the *Cochrane Handbook* for the calculations (Higgins 2021). Cluster-randomisation might have been at the level of the workplace (e.g. a factory), a subset of the workplace (e.g. department or shift), or a larger unit (e.g. a geographical area), and we took care to ensure that the analysis made appropriate adjustment for clustering at the correct level.

When cross-over trials reported continuous outcomes, with which the authors did not report a paired analysis, we planned to perform a paired analysis, based on a reported or imputed correlation between the outcomes of the intervention and the control condition, as advised in Chapter 16 of the *Cochrane Handbook* (Higgins 2021). For dichotomous outcomes, we intended to adjust the confidence intervals for the paired analysis according to Elbourne 2002. When multiple trial arms were reported in a single trial, we planned to include only the relevant arms. Had we combined two comparisons (e.g. intervention A versus no intervention and intervention B versus no intervention) in the same meta-analysis, we planned to halve the no intervention group to avoid doublecounting.

Dealing with missing data

We contacted investigators or study sponsors to verify key study characteristics and obtain missing numerical outcome data when needed (e.g. when a study is identified as abstract only). When we were unable to obtain the missing data, and we thought they would introduce serious bias, we explored the impact of including such studies in the overall assessment of results with a sensitivity analysis.

If numerical outcome data were missing, such as standard deviations (SD) or intra-cluster correlation coefficients (ICC), and we could not obtain them from the authors, we planned to calculate them from other available statistics, such as P values, according to the methods described in the *Cochrane Handbook* (Higgins 2021).

Assessment of heterogeneity

We assessed the clinical homogeneity of the results of included studies based on similarity of population, intervention, outcome, and follow-up.

- We considered any workplace populations as similar enough to combine.
- We considered interventions as similar when they were from the same sub-category within the hierarchy of controls (listed in Types of interventions).
- We considered any outcome measure relating to the rate of SARS-CoV-2 as similar enough to combine. We did not combine data on SARS-CoV-2 with data on SARS or MERS.
- We categorised follow-up times as follows: short-term as less than 3 months after the intervention had begun; medium-term as between 3 and 12 months; and long-term as 12 months or longer. We considered that short- and long-term follow-up times were different, whereas we planned to combine short- and medium-term outcomes, or medium- and long-term outcomes where relevant.

We planned to assess for heterogeneity and define follow-up times after evaluating the included studies. We reached decisions after consulting the entire review team, considering both Cochrane and occupational medicine viewpoints.

As well as visual inspection of forest plots, we planned to use the I² and the Chi² statistics to assess heterogeneity amongst the trials in each analysis. If we identified substantial heterogeneity, we planned to report it, and explore possible causes by prespecified subgroup analysis. We considered the following ranges to interpret I²: 0% to 40% might not be important; 30% to 60% may represent moderate heterogeneity; 50% to 90% may represent substantial heterogeneity; 75% to 100%: considerable heterogeneity (Deeks 2022). We considered that P < 0.1 for the Chi² test indicated the presence of heterogeneity.

Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings (Review) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Cochrane Library

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Assessment of reporting biases

We planned to create and examine a funnel plot to explore possible small study biases, if we pooled more than 10 trials in any single meta-analysis.

Data synthesis

We planned to pool data from studies we judged to be clinically homogeneous, as defined in the Assessment of heterogeneity section, using RevMan Web (RevMan Web 2020). If more than one study provided usable data in any single comparison, we planned to perform a meta-analysis. We planned to use a random-effects model because we believed that the intervention type and study designs would always lead to heterogeneity.

We planned to include all eligible RCTs in one primary analysis. Had we included NRSIs, we would have included all eligible NRSIs, except those at critical risk of bias, in a separate primary analysis.

We planned to refer to the Synthesis without meta-analysis (SWiM) in systematic reviews guidelines, if we were unable to pool data in a meta-analysis (Campbell 2020).

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We planned to carry out the following subgroup analyses.

- 1. Dose (intensity, duration of the intervention)
- 2. Sector (transportation, agriculture, tourism, manufacturing, construction, forestry and fishing, mining and quarrying, electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply, water supply; sewerage, waste management and remediation activities, wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles, transportation and storage, accommodation and food service activities, information and communication, financial and insurance activities, real estate activities, professional, scientific, and technical activities, administrative and support service activities, public administration and defence; compulsory social security, education, human health and social work activities, arts, entertainment and recreation, other service activities, activities of households as employers; undifferentiated goods- and services-producing activities of households for own use, activities of extraterritorial organisations and bodies (UN 2008))
- 3. Geographic region (Africa, Asia, Caribbean, Central America, Europe, North America, Oceania, and South America)
- 4. Country income level (high, upper-middle, lower-middle, low-income)
- 5. The time frame of the pandemic during which the study was conducted (early and late, based upon the median)
- 6. Studies in which both intervention and control groups use PPEs
- 7. Studies that included only a subset of relevant participants
- 8. SARS-CoV-2 studies versus indirect evidence from SARS and MERS studies
- 9. Funding (public/governmental versus industry/commercial)
- 10.Public-facing versus non-public-facing workplaces

We intended to re-analyse the four primary outcomes in subgroup analyses. We planned to use the Chi² test to test for subgroup interactions in RevMan Web (RevMan Web 2020).

Sensitivity analysis

We planned to conduct these sensitivity analyses to assess the robustness of our conclusions on the key outcomes of interest.

- 1. Study results grouped by overall risk of bias: low risk of bias versus some concerns versus high risk of bias, in the case of trials; and studies with low versus moderate versus serious versus critical risk of bias, in the case of NRSIs
- 2. Excluding studies with missing data, thought to introduce serious bias
- 3. Excluding studies with estimated ICCs (or using alternative ICCs)
- 4. Non-peer-reviewed publications (preprints, abstracts only) versus peer-reviewed publications

We also planned to perform sensitivity analyses to check how our assumptions influenced the conclusions of the review.

Summary of findings and assessment of the certainty of the evidence

We planned to create summary of findings tables for each comparison of a workplace intervention with no intervention, or standard practices.

For these comparisons, we reported the following outcomes.

- 1. The incidence rate of SARS-CoV-2 infection (or other respiratory viruses)
- 2. SARS-CoV-2-related mortality
- 3. Adverse events
- 4. Absenteeism from work
- 5. All-cause mortality
- 6. Quality of life
- 7. Hospitalisation
- 8. Adherence to strategies

We used the five GRADE considerations (overall risk of bias according to ROB 2/ROBINS-I; consistency of effect; imprecision; indirectness; and publication bias) to assess the certainty of a body of evidence related to the studies that contributed to the prespecified outcomes. We used methods and recommendations described in the *Cochrane Handbook* (Higgins 2021), using GRADEpro GDT software (GRADEpro GDT). We justified all decisions to down- or upgrade the quality of studies using footnotes.

We prioritised the evidence from RCTs. Because we included non-randomised studies, if necessary, we planned to compile an additional summary of findings table showing all our GRADE decisions about the certainty of evidence and their justifications. If we included RCTs and non-RCTs for the same outcome, we planned to base our GRADE assessments on the evidence from RCTs. If only a non-RCT reported a key outcome, we planned to assess it using GRADE.

RESULTS

Description of studies

We provided results of the search in the study flow diagram (Figure 1).

Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings (Review) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Figure 1. Flow diagram





See Characteristics of included studies; Characteristics of excluded studies; Characteristics of ongoing studies for details.

Results of the search

The literature search run in September 2021 yielded 15,140 records identified through database searching (including 29 from CCOHS searches) and 16 records identified through other sources (references checking; Figure 1). After we removed duplicates, we screened 13,787 titles and abstracts, and excluded 13,768. We screened the full text of 19 records, and excluded 16.

We included one randomised controlled trial (RCT) enrolling 24,027 adults (Young 2021). We identified two ongoing trials (NCT04647305; NCT04878809).

Included studies

Elimination of exposure interventions

Study design

Young 2021 is an open-label, cluster-randomised, non-inferiority (non-inferiority margin < 50% relative increase of infection transmission), controlled trial, conducted in 162 secondary schools and post-secondary education colleges in England, UK, in 18 March 2021 to 27 June 2021. Schools were randomly assigned (1:1) to either a policy of test-based attendance (intervention group) or a standard 10-day self-isolation (control group). Randomisation was performed in blocks of two, and stratified using nine strata to ensure a sample representative of schools and colleges in England; stratification was performed according to school type, size, presence of a sixth form, presence of residential students, and proportion of students eligible for free school meals (as a marker of social deprivation). Schools reported the numbers of staff and students present on each school day, absent for COVID-19-related reasons, and absent for other reasons. Data for the outcome were taken from the NHS Test and Trace service.

Participants

Eighty-six intervention schools (staff N = 11,798) and seventy-six control schools (staff N = 12,229) actively participated; additional national data allowed most non-participating schools to be included in the analysis of student co-primary outcomes.

Intervention

Intervention group: policy of test-based attendance. All schools followed the national policy of offering twice-weekly asymptomatic testing with lateral flow device (LFD). School-based SARS-CoV-2 contacts were offered daily LFD testing over seven days, to allow continued school attendance, i.e. LFD-negative contacts remained at school (self-isolation restricted to individuals with positive results). Participants who agreed to daily contact testing, swabbed their own anterior nose; swabs were tested by school staff using a SARS-CoV-2 antigen LFD (Orient Gene, Huzhou, China).

Control group: policy of standard 10-day self-isolation after contact with a school-based SARS-CoV-2-positive person. All schools offered twice-weekly asymptomatic testing with LFD.

We categorised both interventions, the active and the control, as different forms of eliminating the exposure, which is at the top of the hierarchy of controls.

Outcomes

The included study reported on one primary outcome of interest: the incidence rate of SARS-CoV-2 infection, measured as both symptomatic polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-positive, and any PCR-postive SARS-CoV-2 infection. The study authors argued that the first was the most valid measure of SARS-CoV-2 transmission in their study, as the latter may have been affected by the intervention. We only used the first measurement in this review. It also reported on two of the secondary outcomes of interest: absence from work, as the number of COVID-19-related absences across all students and staff, and uptake of the intervention (which was only assessed in the intervention schools). We only used the data for staff, as we did not include students as participants.

Ongoing studies

We identified two ongoing studies (NCT04647305; NCT04878809).

Elimination of exposure interventions

One study was a Spanish non-randomised study on COVID-19 screening in schools, enrolling students older than six years, teachers, administrative and service staff attending or working at school (NCT04878809). Its intervention falls under the category of elimination of exposure. Asymptomatic and symptomatic participants in two schools were assessed with rapid antigen detection tests in nasal and nasopharyngeal swabs to compare the incidence of SARS-CoV-2 infection. Depending on the initial results, they were further tested by either rapid antigen detection tests in nasal swabs (self-taken); rapid antigen detection tests in nasopharyngeal swabs taken by trained teachers; or PCR nasopharyngeal swabs performed under clinical practice.

Personal protective equipment interventions

The other was a Colombian randomised controlled trial comparing closed face shields (COVPROSHIELD) plus surgical face masks and surgical face masks alone to prevent COVID-19 transmission (NCT04647305). It falls under the category of personal protective equipment. Inclusion criteria were: adults with negative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) tests and negative SARS-CoV-2 serological anti-SARS-CoV-2 tests, living in a geographic area with active COVID-19 transmission, and working outside the home for at least two days a week during the last week. The prespecified outcomes were measured at day 21, and are COVID-19 incidence ; adherence to closed face shield use; and percentage of seroconversion.

Other interventions

We did not find any studies that fell under the intervention categories of engineering controls or administrative controls.

Excluded studies

We did not exclude any of the 16 full-text study reports because of the type of intervention.

We excluded four studies because of population, i.e. conducted in communities and not at the workplace (Bundgaard 2021; NCT04630054; NCT04740320; NCT05022472). We excluded four studies because they were conducted in a healthcare setting (Bhaskar 2020; Falsey 1999; NCT05008627; Tagliabue 2021). We excluded the remaining eight studies because of the study design, i.e. studies conducted without a concurrent controlled group



(Bielecki 2021; Cave 2021; Edwards 2021; Guy 2021; Herstein 2021; Iddins 2021; Ma 2020; Marshall 2020).

Risk of bias in included studies

-e assessed the risk of bias for the results and outcomes reported in the included study: rate of symptomatic PCR-positive SARS-CoV-2

infections, rate of any positive PCR SARS-CoV-2 infections, and rate of COVID-related school absences (for the staff). See Figure 2; Risk of bias table for Analysis 1.1; Risk of bias table for Analysis 1.2).



Figure 2. Risk of bias summary

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

Bias due to deviations from intended interventions: Rates of symptomatic PCR positive SARS-CoV-2 infection Bias due to deviations from intended interventions: Rates of any positive PCR SARS-CoV-2 infection Bias in selection of the reported result: Rates of symptomatic PCR positive SARS-CoV-2 infection Bias in measurement of the outcome: Rates of symptomatic PCR positive SARS-CoV-2 infection Bias due to missing outcome data: Rates of symptomatic PCR positive SARS-CoV-2 infection Bias in selection of the reported result: Rates of any positive PCR SARS-CoV-2 infection Bias in measurement of the outcome: Rates of any positive PCR SARS-CoV-2 infection Bias due to missing outcome data: Rates of any positive PCR SARS-CoV-2 infection Overall bias: Rates of symptomatic PCR positive SARS-CoV-2 infection Overall bias: Rates of any positive PCR SARS-CoV-2 infection Bias due to deviations from intended interventions: Absenteeism Bias in selection of the reported result: Absenteeism Bias in measurement of the outcome: Absenteeism Bias due to missing outcome data: Absenteeism Bias arising from the randomization process **Overall bias: Absenteeism** Young 2021 ? ?



Bias arising from the randomisation process

We judged the risk of bias as low for these three outcomes, as randomisation was done using statistical software, and the allocation was concealed until after members of the clusters were enrolled. The cluster effect was taken into account in the trial's analyses.

Risk of bias arising from the timing of identification or recruitment of participants

We judged the risk of bias as low for the three outcomes, as all participants were identified and recruited before the clusters were randomised.

Risk of bias due to deviations from the intended interventions (effect of assignment to intervention)

We judged the risk of bias for the three outcomes as low; participants were aware that they were in a study, but not that they were in a trial; intention-to-treat (ITT) analyses were undertaken.

Risk of bias due to missing outcome data

We judged the risk of bias as low for absenteeism. We judged the risk of bias as high for PCR SARS-CoV-2 infection (any positive PCR SARS-CoV-2 infection, and symptomatic positive PCR SARS-CoV-2 infection), because data for staff for this outcome were available for 76 (76%) control schools and 85 (83%) intervention schools.

Risk of bias in the measurement of the outcome

We had some concerns about the risk of bias in the measurement of the three outcomes. The trial used different methods to assess the outcomes in the intervention and control groups; it used study data for actively participating schools, and national administrative data for non-participating schools.

Risk of bias in the selection of the reported result

We judged the risk of bias for the three outcomes as low; the outcome data were analysed according to a prespecified analysis plan that was finalised before the unblinded outcome data were available.

Overall risk of bias

We had some concerns for the overall risk of bias for absenteeism, because we had some concerns of risk of bias in the measurement of outcomes; and we judged high risk for PCR SARS-CoV-2 infection, because staff data for this outcome were only available for 76% of the control schools and 83% of the intervention schools.

Effects of interventions

See: Summary of findings 1 Test-based attendance compared to routine isolation after contact with a SARS-CoV-2 positive person

Test-based attendance versus standard isolation after contact with a SARS-CoV-2 positive person

We included one study (enrolling 24,027 working staff (Young 2021)). We reported the certainty of the evidence in Summary of findings 1.

Primary outcomes

Incidence rate of SARS-CoV-2 (or other viruses) infection

Test-based attendance did not lead to a non-inferior rate of symptomatic PCR-positive SARS-COV-2 infection compared to standard 10-day self-isolation after contact with a SARS-CoV-2 positive person (rate ratio (RR) 1.28, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.74 to 2.21; 1 study, 24,027 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.1). The rates of symptomatic PCR-postive SARS-COV-2 infection in staff were 57 per 819,487 days at risk (48.7 cases per 100,000 population per week) in the test-based attendance group, and 43 per 790,219 days at risk (38.1 cases per 100,000 population per week) in the standard 10-day self-isolation group.

Test-based attendance did not lead to a non-inferior rate of any PCR-positive SARS-COV-2 infection compared to standard 10-day self-isolation after contact with a SARS-CoV-2 positive person (RR 1.35, 95% CI 0.82 to 2.21; 1 study, 24,027 participants; very low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.2). Rates of any PCR-positive SARS-CoV-2 infections in staff were 85 per 821,569 days at risk (72.4 cases per 100,000 population per week) in the test-based attendance group, and 61 per 793,653 days at risk (53.8 cases per 100,000 population per week) in the standard isolation group.

Absenteeism

The results between test-based attendance and standard 10day self-isolation were inconclusive for absenteeism (RR 0.83, 95% CI 0.55 to 1.25; 1 study, 24,027 participants; low-certainty evidence; Analysis 1.3). Absentee rates in staff were 2932 per 539,805 days at risk (5.4 cases per 1000 working days) in the testbased attendance group, and 3704 in 556,502 days at risk (6.5 per 1000 working days) in the standard 10-day self-isolation group. In absolute terms, this was, on average, a reduction of 0.07 day (95% CI -0.66 to 0.51) of absence in the test-based group, over the followup period of 13 weeks. Extrapolated to a year, this corresponds to an average reduction of 0.25 days of absence per person in the testbased attendance group, compared to the standard 10-day selfisolation group, assuming 225 working days per person per year.

SARS-CoV-2-related mortality

The included study did not report this outcome.

Adverse events

The included study did not report this outcome.

Secondary outcomes

All-cause mortality

The included study did not report this outcome.

Quality of life

The included study did not report this outcome.

Hospitalisation

The included study did not report this outcome.

Uptake, acceptability, or adherence to strategies

In the test-based attendance group, uptake of the rapid antigen test among staff who were identified as a contact of an index case was



179/253 (71%). The uptake in the 10-day self-isolation group was not reported.

DISCUSSION

Summary of main results

We included one open-label, non-inferiority, cluster-randomised controlled trial investigating the effects of test-based attendance compared to standard isolation on COVID-related absence and symptomatic polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-positive SARS-CoV-2 infection rates, after contact with a SARS-CoV-2-positive person. Participants were staff at 162 secondary schools and colleges in England.

We are uncertain whether test-based attendance after contact with a SARS-CoV-2 positive person compared to standard 10day self-isolation affects rates of symptomatic PCR-positive SARS-CoV-2 infection (rate ratio (RR) 1.28, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.74 to 2.21, very low certainty evidence), and any PCR-positive SARS-COV-2 infection (RR 1.35, 95% CI 0.82 to 2.21; 1 study, 24,027 participants; very low certainty evidence). For COVID-related absence, the rate ratio of test-based attendance versus routine isolation was 0.83 (95% CI 0.55 to 1.25; low certainty evidence). In absolute terms, this was an average 0.07-day reduction of absence in the intervention group. Extrapolated to a year, this corresponds to an average reduction of 0.25 days of absence (95% CI -0.66 to 0.51) per person in the test-based attendance group when compared to the standard 10-day self-isolation group, assuming 225 working days per person per year. This suggests that test-based attendance may offer, at most, a trivial reduction in days of absence per person from the individual perspective. Because a large part of the population is exposed, this could potentially be an important benefit from the viewpoint of employers or society, but the limited data available from this single trial means that the imprecision of the estimated benefit is too great to draw firm conclusions.

The included study did not measure other primary outcomes of this review (SARS-CoV-2-related mortality, adverse events).

The included study reported on the uptake of the intervention, but only provided data for the test-based attendance group (71%); none of the other secondary outcomes of interest were reported (allcause mortality, quality of life, hospitalisation).

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

Our review highlights the paucity of direct evidence. Many studies assessing relevant interventions were conducted among ineligible populations, i.e. in healthcare workers or in community (rather than occupational) settings. These populations are covered in other Cochrane Reviews (Jefferson 2020; Verbeek 2020).

The included study addressed only one of the interventions that could be implemented in the workplace to reduce the risk of infection – test-based attendance, using rapid antigen testing to attempt to reduce staff time away from work. In the two ongoing studies we identified, one also addresses the impact of daily rapid antigen testing in schools (NCT04878809), while the other investigates mask-wearing (NCT04647305). Evaluations of different relevant interventions exist, but not in settings included in this review.

The included study measured three of our prespecified outcomes; for one of these, results were only reported for the intervention group.

The generalisability of this study to other contexts, especially workplaces in low- and middle-income countries, is very uncertain, given the considerable geographical variation in disease incidence, other primary preventive measures (including vaccination rates), and accumulated immunity from past infection.

When the included trial was completed, infection rates were low (2%), and results could be very different with higher infection rates. For example, in a context where the rate of COVID-19 infection is higher, there is an increased probability that a negative rapid antigen test would be false, which could impact the effectiveness of a test-based attendance programme. On the other hand, with higher infection rates, there would also be higher absenteeism due to self-isolation. These benefits could be balanced with the potential harms of different self-isolation strategies after contact with an infected person.

The included trial was performed in the UK from March to June 2021, and to some extent, the vaccination programme may have influenced results for staff. The COVID-19 vaccination roll-out began in the UK on 8 December 2020. Until the end of the study period (4 May 2021), 60.5% (first dose) and 27.6% (second dose) of the UK population over the age of 12 years were vaccinated in the UK (NHS 2021). However, given the phased vaccination roll-out, at the time of this study, none of the students would have been vaccinated; they would not be offered the COVID-19 vaccine in the UK until after August/September 2021. Given the inconclusive, very low certainty evidence supporting the effectiveness of workplace testing and self-isolation, occupational physicians will need to assess evidence from non-workplace settings to translate to the workplace setting.

Quality of the evidence

We assessed the certainty of the evidence for the outcomes as low to very low (see Summary of findings 1). We downgraded outcomes because of imprecision: the confidence intervals were wide and included both appreciable benefit and harm, and risk of bias: we judged a high risk of detection bias because of considerable missing staff PCR-test data.

We did not explore publication bias using funnel plots because we included fewer than 10 trials.

Potential biases in the review process

Given the recent emergence of COVID-19 infection, we aimed to design a protocol that would be inclusive, to encompass as many relevant interventions as possible.

Cochrane Information Specialists designed and ran the search strategy. Although some studies might have been missed, we think this is unlikely, since we manually searched the references of the included study, and carried out searches in databases that focus on occupational health studies and evidence. Our choice to include only randomised trials and studies with a concurrent control group resulted in us including one study only; in the next update of the review, we will consider also including case-control studies and interrupted time series.

Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings (Review) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

There are numerous factors influencing incidence rates of SARS-CoV-2, and as the rates fluctuate substantially and unpredictably over time, assessing the possibly small contribution of preventive measures in the workplace in a complex societal context of a pandemic, requires well-conducted trials with a contemporary control group. Therefore, we chose to only include studies with such a control group. A rapid review that included observational studies on COVID-19 prevention and control measures in workplace settings included 61 studies, conducted in meatpacking, manufacturing, and office settings, which addressed various types of interventions (Ingram 2021; literature searched 19 April 2021). Only five of the studies in the review were conducted outside of healthcare facilities, and none of these five studies included a concurrent control. For these reasons, a comparison between the findings of that review and this review was not possible.

Seventy-two studies met the inclusion criteria for a systematic review and meta-analysis on the effectiveness of public health measures in reducing the incidence of COVID-19 and SARS-CoV-2 transmission, 35 of which assessed individual interventions (literature searched 7 June 2021). Thirty-four of these studies were observational, and one was a randomised controlled trial (Talic 2021). None of the 16 studies included in a rapid systematic review on school closure and management practices during COVID-19 were reported as randomised or non-randomised studies of an intervention, or included a concurrent control arm (Viner 2020). All 34 studies included in a systematic review of empirical studies comparing the effectiveness of non-pharmaceutical interventions against COVID-19 were ecological studies, with data aggregated at the population level (Mendez-Brito 2021). A Cochrane Scoping Review on measures in the school setting to contain the COVID-19 pandemic included 42 studies, only two of which used experimental or quasi-experimental designs (Krishnaratne 2020; literature searched 8 October 2020).

This confirms the lack of randomised and controlled trials available, as reported in our review.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

Amongst school and college staff, we are uncertain whether testbased attendance affects incidence rates of PCR-positive SARS-CoV-2 infection (any infection; symptomatic infection) compared to standard 10-day self-isolation. Data on COVID-related absence suggests that test-based attendance may result in little to no difference in days of absence. However, while the small number of days of absence per person per year observed was trivial from the individual level, this sort of reduction could have a relevant impact from the perspective of an employer or the society.

The certainty of the evidence was low to very low, and only one randomised trial was available. The included study did not report on any of the other primary outcomes of our review, i.e. SARS-CoV-2-related mortality and adverse events. Adherence to the intervention was reported for the intervention group only. No completed studies were identified on any other interventions specified in this review, but two eligible studies are ongoing. As infection rates can increase exponentially in the case of an epidemic or pandemic, an apparently small relative effect that would not be worthwhile at the individual level, may become an important absolute effect overtime at the societal level, if introduced early, especially in a setting where a strategy aims to postpone disease spread and avoid overburdening a healthcare system.

Implications for research

More randomised and non-randomised studies of interventions to reduce SARS-CoV-2 infection rates in workplaces outside the healthcare setting should be conducted because the effects of most interventions used in the workplace are unknown. Even though randomised experiments in workplace settings are more difficult to conduct, some randomised controlled studies have been conducted, and prove that this is possible. Also, the use of a concurrent non-randomised control group should not be difficult to organise, but would greatly enhance the possibility of inference, compared to studies that do not have a control group.

Given the very high variation of risk in the workplaces, testing in representative samples in different settings could help identify true benefits and harms of interventions that attempt to prevent or reduce workers' exposure to SARS-CoV-2 in the workplace. Preferably, interventions that are high in the hierarchy of hazard controls should be evaluated, because they have potentially the biggest impact: elimination of the source of SARS-CoV-2 and engineering controls. This means more studies of testing strategies are needed, especially because testing on a large scale has been proven to be feasible in workplaces (Rosella 2022). Also, the effects of working from home should be evaluated, as this has a large impact on both the workers and the organisation. The studies should have a minimum follow-up of three months, and measure the effect on SARS-CoV-2 absenteeism and adverse effects.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Maria Björklund, Information Specialist at Cochrane Sweden, and Yuan Chi, Information Specialist at Cochrane Global Ageing, for designing and running the search strategy; Matthias Bank, Information Specialist at Cochrane Sweden, and Robin Featherstone, Information Specialist at Cochrane Central Editorial Service, for peer-reviewing the search strategy. Many thanks to the Library staff at WorkSafeBC, including Daphne Hamilton-Nagorsen and her team, for running additional literature searches and engaging in full-text article retrieval.

We thank Chantelle Garritty for screening studies for inclusion, and Martie Van Tongeren for his contribution to the protocol.

We thank the Cochrane Work Review Group editorial staff, Jan Hoving, Co-ordinating Editor, and Julitta Boschman, Managing Editor, for their help in all stages of the current review.

Editorial and peer-reviewer contributions

The following people conducted the editorial process for this article:

 Sign-off Editor (final editorial decision): Lisa Bero, Professor of Medicine and Public Health and Chief Scientist, Center for Bioethics and Humanities, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus;



- Managing Editor (selected peer reviewers, collated peerreviewer comments, provided editorial guidance to authors, edited the article): Colleen Ovelman, Cochrane Central Editorial Service;
- Editorial Assistant (conducted editorial policy checks and supported editorial team): Leticia Rodrigues, Cochrane Central Editorial Service;
- Copy Editor (copy editing and production): Victoria Pennick, Cochrane Copy Edit
- Peer-reviewers (provided comments and recommended an editorial decision): Faruque Ahmed, PhD U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Atlanta, Tomohiro Ishimaru, MD, MPH, PhD Department of Environmental Epidemiology, Institute of Industrial Ecological Sciences, University of Occupational and Environmental Health, Japan (clinical review), Debra Knauft (consumer review), Kerry Dwan and Andrew Back, Cochrane Methods Support Unit (methods review), Robin Featherstone, Information Specialist at Cochrane Central Editorial Service (search review), Robert Walton Senior Fellow in General Practice Cochrane UK (abstract review).



REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Young 2021 {published data only}

Young BC, Eyre DW, Kendrick S, White C, Smith S, Beveridge G, et al.Daily testing for contacts of individuals with SARS-CoV-2 infection and attendance and SARS-CoV-2 transmission in English secondary schools and colleges: an open-label, cluster-randomised trial. *Lancet* 2021;**398**(10307):1217-29. [DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01908-5] [PMID: 34534517]

References to studies excluded from this review

Bhaskar 2020 {published data only}

Bhaskar ME, Arun S.SARS-CoV-2 infection among community health workers in India before and after use of face shields.. *JAMA* 2020;**324**(13):1348-9. [DOI: 10.1001/jama.2020.15586] [PMID: 32808979]

Bielecki 2021 {published data only}

Bielecki M, Züst R, Siegrist D, Meyerhofer D, Crameri GAG, Stanga Z, et al.Social distancing alters the clinical course of COVID-19 in young adults: a comparative cohort study. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 2021;**72**(4):598-603. [DOI: 10.1093/cid/ ciaa889] [PMID: 32594121]

Bundgaard 2021 {published data only}

Bundgaard H, Bundgaard JS, Raaschou-Pedersen DET, Mariager AF, Schytte N, von Buchwald C, et al.Face masks for the prevention of COVID-19 – rationale and design of the randomised controlled trial DANMASK-19. *Danish Medical Journal* 2020;**67**(9):1-10. [NCT: 04337541] [PMID: 32829745]

* Bundgaard H, Bundgaard JS, Raaschou-Pedersen DET, von Buchwald C, Todsen T, Norsk JB.Effectiveness of adding a mask recommendation to other public health measures to prevent SARS-CoV-2 infection in Danish mask wearers: a randomized controlled trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2021;**174**(3):335-43. [DOI: 10.7326/M20-6817] [PMID: 33205991]

Cave 2021 {published data only}

Cave KM, Kelley AM, Feltman KA, Gerstner JA, Stewart JL, Crowley JS.Aircrew performance and safety while using protective masks in response to coronavirus disease. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance* 2021;**92**(4):274-80. [DOI: 10.3357/AMHP.5751.2021] [PMID: 33752791]

Edwards 2021 {published data only}

Edwards NJ, Widrick R, Wilmes J, Breisch B, Gerschefske M, Sullivan J, et al.Reducing COVID-19 airborne transmission risks on public transportation buses: an empirical study on aerosol dispersion and control. *Aerosol Science and Technology* 2021;**55**(12):1378-97. [DOI: 10.1080/02786826.2021.1966376]

Falsey 1999 {published data only}

Falsey AR, Criddle MM, Kolassa JE, McCann RM, Brower CA, Hall WJ.Evaluation of a handwashing intervention to reduce respiratory illness rates in senior day-care centers. *Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology* 1999;**20**(3):200-2. [DOI: 10.1086/501612] [PMID: 10100548]

Guy 2021 {published data only}

Guy GP Jr, Lee FC, Sunshine G, McCord R, Howard-Williams M, Kompaniyets L, et al.Association of state-issued mask mandates and allowing on-premises restaurant dining with county-level COVID-19 case and death growth rates – United States, March 1-December 31, 2020. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 2021;**70**(10):350. [DOI: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7010e3external icon]

Herstein 2021 {published data only}

Herstein JJ, Degarege A, Stover D, Austin C, Schwedhelm MM, Lawler JV, et al.Characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 transmission among meat processing workers in Nebraska, USA, and effectiveness of risk mitigation measures. *Emerging Infectious Diseases Journal* 2021;**27**(4):1032-9. [DOI: 10.3201/ eid2704.204800]

Iddins 2021 {published data only}

Iddins BO, Waugh MH, Buck B, Cato T, Graham DE, Attia K, et al.Benchmarking SARS CoV-2 infection in the workplace to support continuity of operations. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2021;**63**(7):548-56. [DOI: 10.1097/ JOM.00000000002188] [PMID: 33741830]

Ma 2020 {published data only}

Ma QX, Shan H, Zhang HL, Li GM, Yang RM, Chen JM.Potential utilities of mask-wearing and instant hand hygiene for fighting SARS-CoV-2. *Journal of Medical Virology* 2020;**92**(9):1567-71. [DOI: 10.1002/jmv.25805] [PMID: 32232986]

Marshall 2020 {published data only}

Marshall DL, Bois F, Jensen SKS, Linde SA, Higby R, Rémy-McCort Y, et al.Sentinel coronavirus environmental monitoring can contribute to detecting asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 virus spreaders and can verify effectiveness of workplace COVID-19 controls. *Microbial Risk Analysis* 2020;**16**:100137. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.mran.2020.100137] [PMID: 32904602]

NCT04630054 {published data only}

NCT04630054.Face masks to reduce COVID-19 in Bangladesh. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04630054 (first posted 16 November 2020).

NCT04740320 {published data only}

NCT04740320.COVID-19 SARS-CoV-2 screening protocol. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04740320 (first posted 5 February 2021).

NCT05008627 {published data only}

NCT05008627.Personal protection equipment and SARS-CoV-2 contamination. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05008627 (first posted 17 August 2021).

NCT05022472 {published data only}

NCT05022472.Project 2VIDA! COVID-19 vaccine intervention delivery for adults in southern California. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT05022472 (first posted 26 August 2021).



Tagliabue 2021 {published data only}

Tagliabue M, Ridolfo AL, Pina P, Rizzolo G, Belbusti S, Antinori S, et al.Preventing COVID-19 in assisted living facilities: an impossible task pending vaccination roll out. *Preventive Medicine Reports* 2021;**23**:101471. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.pmedr.2021.101471] [PMID: 34221853]

References to ongoing studies

NCT04647305 {published data only}

NCT04647305.Effectiveness and adherence to closed face shields to prevent COVID-19 transmission. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT04647305 (first posted 30 November 2020).

NCT04878809 {unpublished data only}

NCT04878809.Rapid screening circuit of COVID 19 in schools, pilot study. clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04878809 (first posted 7 May 2021). [NCT: 04878809]

Additional references

Allen 2021

Allen TD, Merlo K, Lawrence RC, Slutsky J, Gray CE.Boundary management and work-nonwork balance while working from home. *Applied Psychology* 2021;**70**(1):60-84.

Althouse 2020

Althouse BM, Wenger EA, Miller JC, Scarpino SV, Allard A, Hébert-Dufresne L, et al.Superspreading events in the transmission dynamics of SARS-CoV-2: opportunities for interventions and control. *PLoS Biology* 2020;**18**(11):e3000897.

Altmann 2021

Altmann DM, Boyton RJ, Beale R.Immunity to SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern. *Science* 2021;**371**(6534):1103-4.

Baptista 2021

Baptista MC, Burton WN, Pawlecki B, Pransky G.A physician's guide for workers' return to work during COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine/ American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2021;**63**(3):199-220.

Berlin 2020

Berlin DA, Gulick RM, Martinez FJ.Severe COVID-19. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2020;**383**(25):2451-60.

Bruchfeld 2020

Bruchfeld J, Åhsberg E, Österberg M, Edebert I, Hellberg C, Lintamo L, et al.Long-term symptoms of the disease COVID-19; December 2020. Available at www.sbu.se/contentassets/ a57f9380e8404670b27e655c72ebaad3/long_term-symptomsof-the-disease-of-covid_19.pdf.

Burns 2021

Burns J, Movsisyan A, Stratil JM, Biallas RL, Coenen M, Emmert-Fees KM, et al.International travel-related control measures to contain the COVID-19 pandemic: a rapid review. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2021, Issue 3. Art. No: CD013717. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013717.pub2]

Burton 2020a

Burton MJ, Clarkson JE, Goulao B, Glenny A-M, McBain AJ, Schilder AG, et al. Antimicrobial mouthwashes (gargling) and nasal sprays to protect healthcare workers when undertaking aerosol-generating procedures (AGPs) on patients without suspected or confirmed COVID-19 infection. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 9. Art. No: CD013628. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013628.pub2]

Burton 2020b

Burton MJ, Clarkson JE, Goulao B, Glenny A-M, McBain AJ, Schilder AG, et al.Antimicrobial mouthwashes (gargling) and nasal sprays administered to patients with suspected or confirmed COVID-19 infection to improve patient outcomes and to protect healthcare workers treating them. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 9. Art. No: CD013627. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013627.pub2]

Burton 2020c

Burton MJ, Clarkson JE, Goulao B, Glenny A-M, McBain AJ, Schilder AG, et al.Use of antimicrobial mouthwashes (gargling) and nasal sprays by healthcare workers to protect them when treating patients with suspected or confirmed COVID-19 infection. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 9. Art. No: CD013626. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013626.pub2]

Byambasuren 2020

Byambasuren O, Cardona M, Bell K, Clark J, McLaws M-L, Glasziou P.Estimating the extent of asymptomatic COVID-19 and its potential for community transmission: systematic review and meta-analysis. Official Journal of the Association of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Disease Canada September 2020 [Epub ahead of print]:223-34. [DOI: 10.3138/jammi-2020-0030]

Campbell 2001

Campbell MK, Mollison J, Grimshaw JM.Cluster trials in implementation research: estimation of intracluster correlation coefficients and sample size. *Statistics in Medicine* 2001;**20**(3):391-9.

Campbell 2020

Campbell M, McKenzie JE, Sowden A, Katikireddi SV, Brennan SE, Ellis S, et al.Synthesis without meta-analysis (SWiM) in systematic reviews: reporting guideline. *BMJ* 2020;**368**:l6890. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.l6890]

CCOHS 2020

Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety (CCOHS).COVID-19: Workplace Health and Safety Guide; August 2020. Available at www.ccohs.ca/products/publications/pdf/ pandemiccovid19/covid-health-safety-guide.pdf.

CDC 2021a

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).COVID-19 – community, work, and school. www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/index.html (accessed 05 May 2021).

CDC 2021b

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).SARS-CoV-2 transmission. www.cdc.gov/ coronavirus/2019-ncov/science/science-briefs/sars-cov-2-



transmission.html#anchor_1619805240227 (accessed 10 May 2021).

Chotirmall 2021

Chotirmall SH, Leither LM, Çoruh B, Chan LL, Joudi AM, Brown SM, et al.Update in COVID-19. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 2021;**1**:1-46. [DOI: 10.1164/rccm.202102-0415UP]

Chou 2020

Chou R, Dana T, Buckley DI, Selph S, Fu R, Totten AM.Epidemiology of and risk factors for coronavirus infection in health care workers: a living rapid review. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2020;**173**(2):120-36.

CISA 2021

The Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency (CISA).Advisory memorandum on ensuring essential critical infrastructure workers' ability to work during the COVID-19 response, 10 May 2021. www.cisa.gov/publication/guidanceessential-critical-infrastructure-workforce (accessed 27 April 2022).

Clancy 2021

Clancy C, Delungahawatta T, Dunne CP .Hand hygienerelated clinical trials reported between 2014 and 2020: a comprehensive systematic review. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 2021;**111**:6-26. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jhin.2021.03.007] [PMID: 33744382]

COMET 2021

COMET.Core outcome set developers' response to COVID-19 (April 2021). www.comet-initiative.org/Studies/Details/1538 (accessed prior to 28 August 2021);**1**(1):1-5.

Covidence [Computer program]

Veritas Health Innovation Covidence.Melbourne, Australia: Veritas Health Innovation, accessed prior to 28 August 2021. Available at covidence.org.

Deeks 2022

Deeks JJ, Higgins JPT, Altman DG, editor(s).Chapter 10: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.3 (updated February 2022). Cochrane, 2022. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Delamater 2019

Delamater PL, Street EJ, Leslie TF, Yang YT, Jacobsen KH.Complexity of the basic reproduction number (R0). *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 2019;**25**(1):1-4.

Donaldson 2020

Donaldson AI.Aerosols in meat plants as possible cause of COVID-19 spread. *Veterinary Record* 2020;**187**(1):34-5. [DOI: 10.1136/vr.m2702]

Durand-Moreau 2020

Durand-Moreau Q, Adises A, Mackenzie G, Bowley J, Straube S, Hui X, et al.COVID-19 in meat and poultry facilities: a rapid review and lay media analysis; June 2020. www.cebm.net/ covid-19/what-explains-the-high-rate-of-sars-cov-2transmission-in-meat-and-poultry-facilities-2/ (accessed prior to 28 August 2021).

Elbourne 2002

Elbourne DR, Altman DG, Higgins JP, Curtin F, Worthington HV, Vail A.Meta-analysis involving cross-over trials: methodological issues. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2002;**31**(1):140-9.

Faghri 2021

Faghri PD, Dobson M, Landsbergis P, Schnall PL.COVID-19 pandemic: what has work got to do with it? *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine/American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2021;**63**(4):e245-9.

Fomenko 2021

Fomenko O, Ruser J.The early impact of COVID-19 on workers' compensation claim composition. www.wcrinet.org/reports/ the-early-impact-of-covid-19-on-workers-compensation-claim-composition (accessed 27 April 2022).

Gandhi 2020

Gandhi RT, Lynch JB, Del Rio C.Mild or moderate COVID-19. New England Journal of Medicine 2020;**383**(18):1757-66. [DOI: 10.1056/NEJMcp2009249] [PMID: 32329974]

GRADEpro GDT [Computer program]

McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime) GRADEpro GDT.Hamilton (ON): McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime), accessed 1 September 2021. Available at gradepro.org.

Günther 2020

Günther T, Czech-Sioli M, Indenbirken D, Robitaille A, Tenhaken P, Exner M, et al.SARS-CoV-2 outbreak investigation in a German meat processing plant. *EMBO Molecular Medicine* 2020;**12**(12):e13296. [DOI: 10.15252/emmm.202013296]

Haug 2020

Haug N, Geyrhofer L, Londei A, Dervic E, Desvars-Larrive A, Loreto V, et al.Ranking the effectiveness of worldwide COVID-19 government interventions. *Nature Human Behaviour* 2020;**4**(12):1303-12.

Herstein 2021

Herstein JJ, Degarege A, Stover D, Austin C, Schwedhelm MM, Lawler JV, et al.Characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 transmission among meat processing workers in Nebraska, USA, and effectiveness of risk mitigation measures. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 2021;**4**(4):1032-8. [DOI: 10.3201/eid2704.204800]

Higgins 2021

Sterne JAC, Hernán MA, McAleenan A, Reeves BC, Higgins JPT.Chapter 25: Assessing risk of bias in a nonrandomized study. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.2 (updated February 2021). Cochrane, 2021. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.



Houghton 2020

Houghton C, Meskell P, Delaney H, Smalle M, Glenton C, Booth A, et al.Barriers and facilitators to healthcare workers' adherence with infection prevention and control (IPC) guidelines for respiratory infectious diseases: a rapid qualitative evidence synthesis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 9. Art. No: CD013582. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013582]

Htay 2020

Htay MN, Marzo RR, AlRifai A, Kamberi F, El-Abasiri RA, Nyamache JM, et al.Immediate impact of COVID-19 on mental health and its associated factors among healthcare workers: a global perspective across 31 countries. *Journal of Global Health* 2020;**10**(2):020381.

Ingram 2021

Ingram C, Downey V, Roe M, Chen Y, Archibald M, Kallas KA, et al.COVID-19 prevention and control measures in workplace settings: a rapid review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 2021;**18**(15):7847. [DOI: 10.3390/ijerph18157847] [PMID: 34360142]

Jefferson 2020

Jefferson T, Del Mar CB, Dooley L, Ferroni E, Al-Ansary LA, Bawazeer GA, et al.Physical interventions to interrupt or reduce the spread of respiratory viruses. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 11. Art. No: CD006207. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD006207.pub5]

Khan 2020

Khan RF, Meyer JD.How does the hiearchy of controls integrate with the epidemiologic triangle to help address and understand transmission of SARS-CoV-2? *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2020;**62**(11):e665-8.

Kim 2020

Kim R, Nachman S, Fernandes R, Meyers K, Taylor M, LeBlanc D, et al.Comparison of COVID-19 infections among healthcare workers and non-healthcare workers. *PloS One* 2020;**15**(12):e0241956. [DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0241956]

Krishnaratne 2020

Krishnaratne S, Pfadenhauer LM, Coenen M, Geffert K, Jung-Sievers C, Klinger C, et al.Measures implemented in the school setting to contain the COVID-19 pandemic: a scoping review. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 12. Art. No: CD013812. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013812] [PMID: 33331665]

Kumar 2021

Kumar S, Singh R, Kumari N, Karmakar S, Behera M, Siddiqui AJ, et al.Current understanding of the influence of environmental factors on SARS-CoV-2 transmission, persistence, and infectivity. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 2021;**28**(6):6267-88. [DOI: 10.1007/s11356-020-12165-1]

Lauer 2020

Lauer SA, Grantz KH, Bi Q, Jones FK, Zheng Q, Meredith HR, et al.The incubation period of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

from publicly reported confirmed cases: estimation and application. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2020;**172**:577-82.

Mendez-Brito 2021

Mendez-Brito A, El Bcheraoui C, Pozo-Martin F.Systematic review of empirical studies comparing the effectiveness of nonpharmaceutical interventions against COVID-19. *Journal of Infection* 2021;**83**(3):281-93. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jinf.2021.06.018] [PMID: 34161818]

Meyerowitz-Katz 2020

Meyerowitz-Katz G, Merone L.A systematic review and metaanalysis of published research data on COVID-19 infection fatality rates. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases* 2020;**101**:138-48.

Middleton 2020

Middleton J, Reintjes R, Lopes H.Meat plants – a new front line in the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMJ* 2020;**370**:m2716. [DOI: 10.1136/ bmj.m2716]

Moore 2021

Moore JP.Approaches for optimal use of different COVID-19 vaccines: issues of viral variants and vaccine efficacy. *JAMA* 2021;**325**(13):1251-2.

Morris 2020

Morris DH, Yinda KC, Gamble A, Rossine FW, Huang Q, Bushmaker T, et al.The effect of temperature and humidity on the stability of SARS-CoV-2 and other enveloped viruses. BioRxiv October 2020 [Epub ahead of print]. [DOI: 10.1101/2020.10.16]

Nagraj 2020

Nagraj SK, Eachempati P, Paisi M, Nasser M, Sivaramakrishnan G, Verbeek JH.Interventions to reduce contaminated aerosols produced during dental procedures for preventing infectious diseases. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 10. Art. No: CD013686. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013686.pub2]

Nguyen 2020

Nguyen LH, Drew DA, Graham MS, Joshi AD, Guo CG, Ma W, et al.Risk of COVID-19 among front-line health-care workers and the general community: a prospective cohort study. *The Lancet Public Health* 2020;**5**(9):e475-83.

NHS 2021

National Health Service, UK (NHS).COVID-19 Vaccinations Archive. www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/ covid-19-vaccinations/covid-19-vaccinations-archive/ (accessed 20 November 2021).

Oran 2021

Oran DP, Topol EJ.The proportion of SARS-CoV-2 infections that are asymptomatic: a systematic review. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2021;**174**(5):655-62. [DOI: 10.7326/M20-6976]

OSHA 2021

Occupational Safety & Health Administration (OSHA).COVID-19 – control and prevention. www.osha.gov/coronavirus/control-prevention (accessed 05 May 2021).



Osmanov 2021

Osmanov IM, Spiridonova E, Bobkova P, Gamirova A, Shikhaleva A, Andreeva M, et al.Risk factors for long COVID in previously hospitalised children using the ISARIC Global followup protocol: a prospective cohort study. *European Respiratory Journal* 2021;**1**:1-21. [DOI: 10.1101/2021.04.26.21256110]

O'Keeffe 2021

O'Keeffe J, Eykelbosh A National Collaborating Centre for Environmental Health (NCCEH).Understanding SARS-CoV-2 transmission in the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Vancouver, BC: NCCEH. ncceh.ca/documents/evidence-review/ understanding-transmission-sars-cov-2-ongoing-covid-19pandemic (accessed 27 April 2022).

Page 2021

Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al.The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* 2021;**372**:71. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.n71]

Price 2020

Price S.Surge response: how the panhandle handled one of the State's biggest COVID-19 outbreaks. *Texas Medicine* 2020;**116**(8):30-1. [PMID: 32866272]

Rauschenberg 2021

Rauschenberg C, Schick A, Hirjak D, Seidler A, Paetzold I, Apfelbacher C, et al.Evidence synthesis of digital interventions to mitigate the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on public mental health: rapid meta-review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2021;**23**(3):e23365. [DOI: 10.2196/23365] [PMID: 33606657]

Reid 2021

Reid M, Abdool-Karim Q, Geng E, Goosby E.How will COVID-19 transform global health post-pandemic? Defining research and investment opportunities and priorities. *PLoS Medicine* 2021;**18**(3):e1003564.

RevMan Web 2020 [Computer program]

The Cochrane Collaboration Review Manager Web (RevMan Web).Version 4.5.0. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2022. Available at revman.cochrane.org.

Roberts 2020

Roberts JD, Dickinson KL, Koebele E, Neuberger L, Banacos N, Blanch-Hartigan D, et al.Clinicians, cooks, and cashiers: examining health equity and the COVID-19 risks to essential workers. *Toxicology and Industrial Health* 2020;**36**(9):689-702. [DOI: 10.1177/0748233720970439]

Rosella 2022

Rosella LC, Agrawal A, Gans J, Goldfarb A, Sennik S, Stein J.Large-scale implementation of rapid antigen testing system for COVID-19 in workplaces. *Science Advances* 2022;**8**(8):eabm3608. [DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.abm3608] [PMID: 35213224]

Schünemann 2020

Schünemann HJ, Vist GE, Higgins JPT, Santesso N, Deeks JJ, Glasziou P, et al.Chapter 15: Interpreting results and drawing conclusions. In: Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.1 (updated September 2020): Cochrane. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook/archive/v6.1.

Semple 2020

Semple S, Cherrie JW.COVID-19: protecting worker health. Annals of Work Exposures and Health 2020;**64**(5):461-4. [DOI: 10.1093/annweh/wxaa033]

Shaw 2020

Shaw WS, Main CJ, Findley PA, Collie A, Kristman VL, Gross DP.Opening the workplace after COVID-19: what lessons can be learned from return-to-work research? *Journal* of Occupational Rehabilitation 2020;**30**(3):299-302.

Sigahi 2021

Sigahi TF, Kawasaki BC, Bolis I, Morioka SN.A systematic review on the impacts of COVID-19 on work: contributions and a path forward from the perspectives of ergonomics and psychodynamics of work. *Human Factors and Ergonomics in Manufacturing & Service Industries* 2021;**10**:10-100. [DOI: 10.1002/hfm.20889]

Sim 2020

Sim MR.The COVID-19 pandemic: major risks to healthcare and other workers on the front line. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2020;**77**(5):281-2. [DOI: 10.1136/oemed-2020-106567] [PMID: 32238444]

Sterne 2016

Sterne JA, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, Savović J, Berkman ND, Viswanathan M, et al.ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. *BMJ* 2016;**355**:i4919. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.i4919] [PMID: 27733354]

Sterne 2019

Sterne JA, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, et al.RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ* 2019;**366**:14898.

Talic 2021

Talic S, Shah S, Wild H, Gasevic D, Maharaj A, Ademi Z, et al.Effectiveness of public health measures in reducing the incidence of COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2 transmission, and COVID-19 mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* 2021;**375**:e068302. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj-2021-068302] [PMID: 34789505]

Taylor 2020

Taylor CA, Boulos C, Almond D.Livestock plants and COVID-19 transmission. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2020;**117**(50):31706-15. [DOI: 10.1073/pnas.2010115117]



UN 2008

United Nations (UN).Detailed description of international standard industrial classification of all economic activities (ISIC). Statistical papers series 4. No. 4, Rev. 4. United Nations. 2008. unstats.un.org/unsd/publication/seriesm/ seriesm_4rev4e.pdf.

Ursachi 2021

Ursachi CŞ, Munteanu FD, Cioca G.The safety of slaughterhouse workers during the pandemic crisis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 2021;**18**(5):2633. [DOI: 10.3390/ijerph18052633]

US OSHA 2020

US Department of Labor Occupational Safety and Health Administration.Guidance on Preparing Workplaces for COVID-19. OSHA 3990-03 2020. Available at www.osha.gov/sites/ default/files/publications/OSHA3990.pdf.

Verbeek 2020

Verbeek JH, Rajamaki B, Ijaz S, Sauni R, Toomey E, Blackwood B, et al.Personal protective equipment for preventing highly infectious diseases due to exposure to contaminated body fluids in healthcare staff. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2020, Issue 5. Art. No: CD011621. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011621.pub5]

Viner 2020

Young 2021

Viner RM, Russell SJ, Croker H, Packer J, Ward J, Stansfield C, et al.School closure and management practices during coronavirus outbreaks including COVID-19: a rapid systematic review. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health* 2020;**4**(5):397-404. [DOI: 10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30095-X] [PMID: 32272089]

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Waddell 2006

Waddell G, Burton K.Is Work Good for Your Health and Wellbeing?. London (UK): The Stationery Office, 2006.

Waltenburg 2021

Waltenburg MA, Rose CE, Victoroff T, Butterfield M, Dillaha JA, Heinzerling A, et al.Coronavirus disease among workers in food processing, food manufacturing, and agriculture workplaces. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 2021;**27**(1):243-9. [DOI: 10.3201/ eid2701.203821.]

WHO 2020a

World Health Organization (WHO).Coronavirus. www.who.int/ health-topics/coronavirus#tab=tab_1 (accessed 29 March 2021).

Yu 2020

Yu P, Zhu J, Zhang Z, Han Y.A familial cluster of infection associated with the 2019 novel coronavirus indicating possible person-to-person transmission during the incubation period. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 2020;**221**(11):1757-61.

References to other published versions of this review

Pizarro 2021

Pizarro AB, Persad E, Durao S, Nussbaumer-Streit B, Garritty C, Engela-Volker JS, et al.Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2021, Issue 9. Art. No: CD015112. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD015112]

* Indicates the major publication for the study

Study characteristics	
Methods	Cluster randomised trial. Designed as non-inferiority trial, (non-inferiority margin < 50% relative in- crease of infection transmission)
Participants	24,027 adults working in schools in England; 86 schools were assigned to the intervention group, and 76 schools to the control group.
	Duration of the study: March to June 2021
Interventions	intervention group : policy of offering daily lateral flow device (LFD) testing over 7 days for contacts, to allow continued school attendance, i.e. LFD-negative contacts remaining at school
	control group: policy of isolation of contacts for 10 days
	All participating schools offered twice-weekly asymptomatic testing with LFDs as per national poli- cy. Those testing positive were sent into self-isolation and asked to confirm the results with a PCR test within the following two days. Symptomatic individuals were isolated along with their household, and asked to obtain an urgent PCR test.



Young 2021 (Continued)

Trusted evidence. Informed decisions. Better health.

	National guidelines were followed to identify close contacts of students and staff testing positive by LFD or PCR. These contacts were required to self-isolate for 10 days if they had been in contact with a case less than 48 hours before symptom onset.
	Schools in the intervention group offered daily contact testing to contacts as an alternative to self-iso- lation. Requirements for this procedure included the contact being school-based, asymptomatic, and able to test on-site at the school. Contacts not consenting to daily testing were required to self-isolate at home for 10 days. Those with household members who had tested positive and were currently self- isolating were excluded.
	Those participating in daily testing, self-tested their anterior nose using a SARS-CoV-2 antigen LFD. Contacts testing negative were informed and released from self-isolation for classes, however, request- ed to self-isolate after school, on weekends, and on holidays. Those who had tested negative five times over at least seven days were released from self-isolation. School-based contacts testing positive were required to self-isolate with their household, and their contacts were informed to repeat this process.
	Schools provided a list of students, staff, demographics, and identifying information. The number of students and staff present, absent for COVID-19 reasons, and absent for other reasons were also reported. One study staff was employed at each school. Data were obtained from schools who had stopped participating, where available. Each positive PCR and LFD case was recorded, apart from LFD-positive PCR-negative cases. Following this, the school-based contacts, whether consent was given, and subsequent LFD results were noted. Further, routine PCR tests done by staff and students outside the study were obtained from the National Health Service (NHS). Study-specific PCR testing was also done for contacts in both study groups on day two and seven of testing or isolation.
Outcomes	Primary outcomes:
	Number of school absences due to COVID-19
	 In-school SARS-CoV-2 transmission (rates of symptomatic PCR-positive infections recorded by NHS Test and Trace, after controlling for community case rates)
	Secondary outcomes:
	• Estimated rate of symptomatic and asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infections outside first order contacts
	Daily contact testing participation rates in the intervention group
	 Proportion of contacts testing positive on asymptomatic study PCR tests and symptomatic routine PCR tests
	 Performance characteristics of LFD testing versus PCR testing
	Participation in weekly active COVID-19 case finding
	Behavioural outcomes for pupils, parents, and staff
	Estimated number of infections acquired in schools and transmission cluster sizes
Notes	Funding: UK Government, Department of Health and Social Care

LFD: lateral flow device

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Bhaskar 2020	Healthcare setting
Bielecki 2021	Study design: a natural experiment with no active intervention by a manager or researcher
Bundgaard 2021	Settings: community-based study, not a workplace setting
Cave 2021	Study design: no concurrent controlled group



Study	Reason for exclusion
Edwards 2021	Study design: no concurrent controlled group; modelling study
Falsey 1999	Healthcare settings
Guy 2021	Study design: no concurrent control group
Herstein 2021	Study design: no concurrent control group
Iddins 2021	Study design: no concurrent controlled group
Ma 2020	Study design: no concurrent controlled group
Marshall 2020	Study design: no concurrent controlled group
NCT04630054	Population: conducted in communities
NCT04740320	Population: conducted in communities
NCT05008627	Healthcare settings
NCT05022472	Population: conducted in communities
Tagliabue 2021	Healthcare setting

Characteristics of ongoing studies [ordered by study ID]

NCT04647305

Study name	Effectiveness and adherence to closed face shields to prevent COVID-19 transmission (COV- PROSHIELD)		
Methods	non-inferiority randomised controlled trial		
Participants	 Age 18 years or older Negative RT-PCR test at the beginning of the study Negative SARS-CoV-2 serological Elecsys Anti-Sars-CoV-2 test at the beginning of the study Living in a geographic area with active COVID-19 transmission (number of cases reported locally) Living in a geographic area that was determined by the Colombian National Statistics Department (DANE) to have a medium, medium-high, and high vulnerability index (higher prevalence of comorbidities and social and economic vulnerabilities Working outside the home for at least two days a week, during the last week 		
Interventions	Closed face shield + surgical face mask Surgical face mask only		
Outcomes	COVID-19 incidence; time frame: 21 days of follow-up, RT-PCR test at day 21 Adherence to closed face shields use; time frame: 21 days of follow-up Percentage of participants with a positive serological test at baseline; time frame: serological test at day 1		



NCT04647305 (Continued)

Percentage of seroconversion in the experimental group and active control group; timeframe: serological test at day 21

Starting data	16 January 2021 (completed March 2021)
Starting date	
Contact information	Andrea Ramirez Varela, University of Los Andes, Colombia

Notes

NCT04878809

Study name	Rapid screening circuit of COVID 19 in schools, pilot study			
Methods	Non-randomised clinical trial			
Participants	 Students older than 6 years, teachers, administrative and service staff who regularly attend and work at L'Horitzó school 			
Interventions	 Diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 infection by rapid antigen detection tests in nasal and nasopharyngeal swabs, in asymptomatic and symptomatic participants who attend and work at L'Horitzó school. John Talabot School will provide the incidence of infection by SARS-CoV-2 to compare with the incidence of infection from L'Horitzó School 			
Outcomes	Incidence rate of people infected with SARS-CoV-2; time frame: up to 8 weeks – incidence rate of asymptomatic people infected with SARS-CoV-2, detected by rapid antigen detection tests in nasal swabs (self -taken)			
	Incidence rate of people infected with SARS-CoV-2; time frame: up to 8 weeks – incidence rate of symptomatic/asymptomatic people infected with SARS-CoV-2, detected by rapid antigen detection tests in nasopharyngeal swabs performed by trained teachers from L'Horitzó			
	Incidence rate of people infected with SARS-CoV-2; time frame: up to 8 weeks – incidence rate of symptomatic people infected with SARS-CoV-2, detected by PCR nasopharyngeal performed under clinical practice			
Starting date	7 May 2021 (completed June 2021)			
Contact information	Fundación FLS de Lucha Contra el Sida, las Enfermedades Infecciosas y la Promoción de la Salud y la Ciencia, Spain			
Notes				

RISK OF BIAS

Risk of bias for analysis 1.1 Rates of symptomatic PCR positive SARS-CoV-2 infection

			Bias			
Study	Randomisation process	Deviations from intended interventions	Missing outcome data	Measurement of the outcome	Selection of the reported results	Overall
Young 2021	S	\checkmark	⊗	~	<	8

Risk of bias for analysis 1.2 Rates of any positive PCR SARS-CoV-2 infection

Bias						
Study	Randomisation process	Deviations from intended interventions	Missing outcome data	Measurement of the outcome	Selection of the reported results	Overall
Young 2021	S	~	⊗	\sim	\checkmark	8

DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. Test-based attendance versus standard 10-day self-isolation

Outcome or subgroup title	No. of studies	No. of partici- pants	Statistical method	Effect size
1.1 Rates of symptomatic PCR posi- tive SARS-CoV-2 infection	1		Rate Ratio (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.2 Rates of any positive PCR SARS- CoV-2 infection	1		Rate Ratio (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Totals not selected
1.3 Absenteeism	1		Rate Ratio (IV, Fixed, 95% CI)	Totals not selected

Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1: Test-based attendance versus standard 10-day selfisolation, Outcome 1: Rates of symptomatic PCR positive SARS-CoV-2 infection



(F) Overall bias

Analysis 1.2. Comparison 1: Test-based attendance versus standard 10day self-isolation, Outcome 2: Rates of any positive PCR SARS-CoV-2 infection



Analysis 1.3. Comparison 1: Test-based attendance versus standard 10-day self-isolation, Outcome 3: Absenteeism

Study or Subgroup	log[Rate Ratio]	SE	Rate Ratio IV, Fixed, 95% CI	Rate Ratio IV, Fixed, 95%	CI A	Risk of Bias BCDEF
Young 2021	-0.18633	0.209438	0.83 [0.55 , 1.25]	-+-	+	• 🛨 🛨 ? 🛨 ?
			0.	<u>↓ </u>	5 20	
Risk of bias legend			Favours test-b	ased attendance Fav	vours standard 10-d	lay self-isolation
(A) Bias arising from the randomization process						
(B) Bias due to deviations from intended interventions						
(C) Bias due to missing outcome data						
(D) Bias in measurement of the outcome						
(E) Bias in selection of	the reported result					
(F) Overall bias						



APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Search strategy: MEDLINE

Source: MEDLINE Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations, Ovid MEDLINE® Daily and Ovid MEDLINE® 1946-Present (Ovid SP)

Searched by: Yuan Chi

Date of search: September 14, 2021

Annotations

- No publication date limitations or language limitations were applied.
- The COVID block is built by modifying CADTH COVID-19 MEDLINE and Respiratory Pandemics MEDLINE filters.https://covid.cadth.ca/ literature-searching-tools/cadth-covid-19-search-strings/
- The study design block is built by modifying CADTH database search filter on Randomized Controlled Trials / Controlled Clinical Trials — Medline (Ovid).https://www.cadth.ca/resources/finding-evidence/strings-attached-cadths-database-search-filters#rand
- The text terms of occupational categories in the workplace/personnel block are built based on the categories of Essential Non-Healthcare Workers (Frontline essential workers (1b) and Other essential workers (1c)) from the Interim List of Categories of Essential Workers Mapped to Standardized Industry Codes and Titles developed by the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/covid-19/categories-essential-workers.html
- The text terms of intervention block referenced the resources below:https://covid.cadth.ca/literature-searching-tools/cadth-covid-19-search-strings/https://www.ontario.ca/page/resources-prevent-covid-19-workplace, accessed 14 August 2021).https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-workplace-actions-policy-brief-2021-1, accessed 14 August 2021).http://www.ilo.org/global/topics/safety-and-health-at-work/resources-library/publications/WCMS_745549/lang--en/index.htm, accessed 15 August 2021).https://www.osha.gov/coronavirus/safework, accessed 15 August 2021).

Search strategy

COVID block

1. (coronavirus/ or betacoronavirus/ or coronavirus infections/) and (disease outbreaks/ or epidemics/ or pandemics/)

2. COVID-19/ or SARS-CoV-2/ or COVID-19 Vaccines/ or Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome/ or the Middle East Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus/

3. (nCoV* or 2019nCoV or 19nCoV or COVID19* or COVID or 2019 nCoV or nCov 2019 or SARS-CoV2 or SARS CoV-2 or SARS-COV-2 or SARSCOV-2 or

4. ((new or novel or "19" or "2019" or Wuhan or Hubei or China or Chinese) adj3 (coronavirus* or corona virus* or betacoronavirus* or CoV or HCoV)).ti,ab,kf,ot.

5. ((coronavirus* or corona virus* or betacoronavirus* or SARS or MERS) adj3 (pandemic* or epidemic* or outbreak* or crisis)).ti,ab,kf,ot.

6. ((Wuhan or Hubei) adj5 pneumonia).ti,ab,kf,ot.

7. (Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome* or sudden acute respiratory syndrome* or SARS like or MERSCoV* or Middle East Respiratory or camel flu or EMC 2012).ti,ab,kf.

8. or/1-7

Workplace/personnel block

9. exp Occupational Health/ or Occupational Diseases/ or Occupational Exposure/ or Occupational Medicine/

- 10. Work/ or Workplace/ or Employment/ or Manpower/
- 11. (work or job or jobs).kf,kw.

12. (works* or worka* or worke* or workg* or worki* or workl* or workp* or occupat* or company* or offic* or busines* or laborer* or labourer* or manpower or employee*).ti,ab,kf,ot.

13. (community* or population-base* or office-base* or household or retail* or restaurant* or manufacturing or meat processing or administrators or bartenders or cashiers or chefs or cleaners or dishwashers or drive-thru operators or cooks or baker* or waiter* or

Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings (Review) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



supervisor* or manager* or supplier* or machine operators or tradespeople or material handlers or painters or finishers or architects or engineers or contractors or customers or visitors or driver* or passenger* or clients or vendors or builder* or shipper* or plumber* or electrician* or technician* or police or cafe* or hotel* or accommodation or couriers or messengers or garden* or laundry or park* or sport*).ti,ab,kf,ot.

14. ((transport* or commut* or deliver* or transit or air or bus or train or rail or motor or vehicle or ship or car or taxi) adj5 (employ* or work* or people or crew* or pilot or staff or team* or service or driver* or passenger* or sector*)).ti,ab.

15. ((maintenance or trade or market* or retail* or shop* or store* or restaurant* or construction* or on-shore or outdoor or office or domestic or sanitation or social care or public or home or secur* fire or gym* or fitness or postal or repair or packaging or labeling or gasoline or legal or court or librar* or technical or television or film) adj5 (employ* or work* or people or crew* or staff or team* or service or sector or enterprise* or entrepreneur* or dealer*)).ti,ab.

16. ((firstline or first-line or frontline or public or customer* or coworker* or first responder*) adj3 (contact* or expos*)).ti,ab,kf,ot.

17. (((crowd* or close* or share*) adj3 (place* or space* or room*)) or (lunchroom* or changeroom* or breakroom* or break room)).ti,ab,kf.

18. or/9-17

Intervention block

19. Protective Devices/ or Ear Protective Devices/ or Eye Protective Devices/ or exp Gloves, Protective/ or Masks/ or Personal Protective Equipment/ or Protective Clothing/ or Respiratory Protective Devices/

20. (personal protect* or PPE or PPEs or protective device* or protective layer*).ti,ab,kf.

21. ((protect* or safe*) adj3 (glasses or eyeglasses or eyewear or cap or caps or equipment or garment* or clothing or clothes or apron* or suit or suits or shoe* or attire or shield* or gear)).ti,ab,kf.

22. (protect* adj2 (head or heads or face or faces or facial or foot or feet or hand or hands or eye or eyes or mouth or mouths or skin)).ti,ab,kf.

23. (facepiece* or face piece* or mask or masks or facemask* or faceshield* or face shield* or respirator or respirators or FFP1 or FFP2 or FFP3).ti,ab,kf.

24. ((surgical or procedure or respiratory or protect* or facial or face or N99 or N95 or N 99 or N 95) adj2 mask*).ti,ab,kf.

25. ((N99 or N95 or N 99 or N 95 or FFP or P100) adj3 respirator*).ti,ab,kf.

26. ((protect* or filter*) adj2 respirator*).ti,ab,kf.

27. (coverall* or boot or boots or donning or donned or doff or doffing or doffed or face cover* or facial cover* or gloves or gloves or gloving or gown or gowns or gowning or goggle* or head cover* or headwear or hood or hoods or overshoe* or shoe cover* or smock or smocks or visor or visors).ti,ab,kf.

28. ((physical* or social) adj3 (distanc* or contact*)).ti,ab,kf.

29. (stagger* or barrier* or bubble* or hazard* or marking* or schedule* or reschedule* or adjust* or adapt* or ((work or traffic) adj3 flow*)).ti,ab,kf.

30. (hand* adj3 (sanit* or disinfect* or wash* or clean* or hygiene*)).ti,ab,kf.

31. (HVAC or HEPA or heat* or ventilat* or (air adj3 (condition* or purificat* or filter*)) or fresh air or mist* or fog*).ti,ab,kf.

32. (UV light* or ultraviolet light* or clean* or disinfect*).ti,ab,kf.

33. ((telework* or telecommut* or (tele or remote or mobile or distant* home)) adj3 (work* or office or job)).ti,ab,kf.

34. Vaccination/

35. (vaccin* or train* or screen* or policy or sick* or absent* or audit or surveillance).ti,ab,kf.

36. (((rapid or antigen or home-based or PCR or molecular-based) adj3 test*) or self-test*).ti,ab,kf.

37. (quarant* or self-isolat* or isolat* or outbreak or contact tracing).ti,ab,kf.

38. (close* or open* or reopen* or return or return-to-work).ti,ab,kf.

39. (((protect* or control) adj3 measure*) or ((source or engineering or administrative) adj3 control*)).ti,ab,kf.



40. or/19-39

Study design block

41. (Randomized Controlled Trial or Controlled Clinical Trial or Pragmatic Clinical Trial or Equivalence Trial or Clinical Trial, Phase III).pt.

- 42. Randomized Controlled Trial/
- 43. exp Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic/
- 44. Controlled Clinical Trial/
- 45. exp Controlled Clinical Trials as Topic/
- 46. Randomization/
- 47. Random Allocation/
- 48. Double-Blind Method/ or Double-Blind Studies/ or Single-Blind Method/ or Single-Blind Studies/
- 49. Placebos/ or Placebo/
- 50. Control Groups/ or Control Group/
- 51. (random* or sham or placebo*).ti,ab,hw,kf,kw.
- 52. ((singl* or doubl*) adj (blind* or dumm* or mask*)).ti,ab,hw,kf,kw.
- 53. ((tripl* or trebl*) adj (blind* or dumm* or mask*)).ti,ab,hw,kf,kw.
- 54. (control* adj3 (study or studies or trial* or group*)).ti,ab,kf,kw.
- 55. (Nonrandom* or non random* or non-random* or quasi-random* or quasirandom*).ti,ab,hw,kf,kw.
- 56. allocated.ti,ab,hw.
- 57. ((open label or open-label) adj5 (study or studies or trial*)).ti,ab,hw,kf,kw.
- 58. ((equivalence or superiority or non-inferiority or noninferiority) adj3 (study or studies or trial*)).ti,ab,hw,kf,kw.
- 59. (pragmatic study or pragmatic studies).ti,ab,hw,kf,kw.
- 60. ((pragmatic or practical) adj3 trial*).ti,ab,hw,kf,kw.
- 61. ((quasiexperimental or quasi-experimental) adj3 (study or studies or trial*)).ti,ab,hw,kf,kw.
- 62. (phase adj3 (III or "3") adj3 (study or studies or trial*)).ti,hw,kf,kw.
- 63. Interrupted Time Series Analysis/
- 64. exp Controlled Before-After Studies/
- 65. Comparative Study/
- 66. (controlled before-after stud* or time series).ti,ab,kf,kw,pt.
- 67. or/41-66

Combined search

68.8 and 18 and 40 and 67

Appendix 2. Search strategy: Embase, Web of Science, Cochrane COVID-19 Study Register, Clinicaltrials.gov, and International Clinical Trials Registry Platform

No publication date limitations or language limitations were applied

Searched by: Maria Björklund

Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings (Review) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Embase Elsevier

Date of search: Sept 16, 2021

No publication date limitations or language limitations were applied

SARS-CoV-2/MERS block

#1 (betacoronavirus OR coronavirus) AND infections AND (disease AND outbreaks OR epidemics OR pandemics)

#2 'coronavirus disease 2019'/exp OR 'sars coronavirus'/exp OR 'severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2'/exp OR 'middle east respiratory syndrome coronavirus'/exp OR (covid AND vaccine*)

#3 ((((ncov* OR 2019ncov OR 19ncov OR covid19 OR covid OR 2019) AND ncov OR ncov) AND 2019 OR 'sars cov2' OR sars) AND 'cov 2' OR 'sars cov 2' OR 'sarscov 2' OR sarscov2 OR severe) AND acute AND respiratory AND syndrome AND coronavirus AND 2 OR (severe AND acute AND respiratory AND syndrome AND corona AND virus)

#4 (new OR novel OR '2019' OR wuhan OR hubei OR china OR chinese) AND ((coronavirus* OR corona) AND virus* OR betacoronavirus OR cov OR hcov)

#5 ((coronavirus* OR corona) AND virus OR betacoronavirus OR sars OR mers) AND (pandemic* OR epidemic* OR outbreak* OR crisis)

#6 (wuhan OR hubei) NEAR/3 pneumonia

#7 (((((severe AND acute AND respiratory AND syndrome* OR sudden) AND acute AND respiratory AND syndrome* OR sars) AND like OR merscov* OR middle) AND east AND respiratory OR camel) AND flu OR emc) AND 2012

#8 #1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7

Workplace/personnel block

#9 'occupational health'/exp OR 'occupational disease'/exp OR 'occupational exposure'/exp OR 'occupational medicine'/ex

#10 'work'/exp OR 'workplace'/exp OR 'employment'/exp OR 'workforce'/exp

#11 work OR job OR jobs

#12 works* OR worka* OR worke* OR workg* OR worki* OR workl* OR workp* OR occupat* OR company* OR offic* OR busines* OR laborer* OR laborer* OR manpower OR employee*

#13 (community* or population-based* or office-based* or household or retail* or restaurant* or manufacturing or meat processing or administrators or bartenders or cashiers or chefs or cleaners or dishwashers or drive-thru operators or cooks or baker* or waiter* or supervisor* or manager* or supplier* or machine operators or tradespeople or material handlers or painters or finishers or architects or engineers or contractors or customers or visitors or driver* or passenger* or clients or vendors or builder* or shipper* or plumber* or electrician* or technician* or police or cafe* or hotel* or accommodation or couriers or messengers or garden* or laundry or park* or sport*)

#14 (transport* OR commut* OR deliver* OR transit OR air OR bus OR train OR rail OR motor OR vehicle OR ship OR car OR taxi) AND (employ* OR work* OR people OR crew* OR pilot OR staff OR team* OR service OR driver* OR passenger* OR sector*)

#15 (((maintenance OR trade OR market* OR retail* OR shop* OR store* OR restaurant* OR construction* OR 'on shore' OR outdoor OR office OR domestic OR sanitation OR social) AND care OR public OR home OR secur*) AND fire OR gym* OR fitness OR postal OR repair OR packaging OR labeling OR gasoline OR legal OR court OR librar* OR technical OR television OR film) AND (employ* OR work* OR people OR crew* OR staff OR team* OR service OR sector OR enterprise* OR entrepreneur* OR dealer*)

#16 (firstline OR 'first line' OR frontline OR public OR customer* OR coworker* OR first) AND responder* AND (contact* OR expos*)

#17 (crowd* OR close* OR share*) AND (place* OR space* OR room* OR lunchroom* OR changeroom* OR breakroom* OR break) AND room

#18 #9 OR #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14 OR #15 OR #16 OR #17

Intervention block

#19 'protective equipment'/exp OR 'ear protective device'/exp OR 'eye protective device'/exp OR 'glove'/exp OR 'protective glove'/exp OR 'mask'/exp OR 'protective clothing'/exp OR 'respiratory protection'/exp

#20 ((personal AND protect* OR ppe OR ppes OR protective) AND device* OR protective) AND layer*

Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings (Review) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



#21 (protect* OR safe*) AND (glasses OR eyeglasses OR eyewear OR cap OR caps OR equipment OR garment* OR clothing OR clothes OR apron* OR suit OR suits OR shoe* OR attire OR shield* OR gear)

#22 protect* NEAR/2 (head OR heads OR face OR faces OR facial OR foot OR feet OR hand OR hands OR eye OR eyes OR mouth OR mouths OR skin)

#23 ((facepiece* OR face) AND piece* OR mask OR masks OR facemask* OR faceshield* OR face) AND shield* OR respirator OR respirators OR ffp1 OR ffp2 OR ffp3

#24 ((surgical OR procedure OR respiratory OR protect* OR facial OR face OR n99 OR n95 OR n) AND 99 OR n) AND 95 AND mask*

#25 (((n99 OR n95 OR n) AND 99 OR n) AND 95 OR ffp OR p100) AND respirator*

#26 (protect* OR filter*) NEAR/2 respirator*

#27 ((((coverall* OR boot OR boots OR donning OR donned OR doff OR doffing OR doffed OR face) AND cover* OR facial) AND cover* OR glove OR gloves OR gloving OR gown OR gowns OR gowning OR goggle* OR head) AND cover* OR headwear OR hood OR hoods OR overshoe* OR shoe) AND cover* OR smock OR smocks OR visor OR visors

#28 (physical* OR social) NEAR/3 (distanc* OR contact*)

#29 (stagger* OR barrier* OR bubble* OR hazard* OR marking* OR schedule* OR reschedule* OR adjust* OR adapt* OR work OR traffic) NEAR/3 flow*

#30 hand* NEAR/3 (sanit* OR disinfect* OR wash* OR clean* OR hygiene*)

#31 (hvac OR hepa OR heat* OR ventilat* OR air) AND ((condition* OR purificat* OR filter* OR fresh) AND air OR mist* OR fog)

#32 (uv AND light* OR ultraviolet) AND light* OR clean* OR disinfect*

#33 (telework* OR telecommut* OR tele OR remote OR mobile OR distant*) AND home AND (work* OR office OR job)

#34 'vaccination'/exp

#35 vaccin* OR train* OR screen* OR policy OR sick* OR absent* OR audit OR surveillance OR monitoring

#36 (rapid OR antigen OR 'home based' OR pcr OR 'molecular based') NEAR/3 (test* OR 'self test*')

#37 (quarant* OR 'self isolat*' OR isolat* OR outbreak OR contact) AND tracing

#38 close* OR open* OR reopen* OR return OR 'return to work'

#39 (protect* OR control) AND (measure* OR source OR engineering OR administrative) AND control*

#40 #19 OR #20 OR #21 OR #22 OR #23 OR #24 OR #25 OR #26 OR #27 OR #28 OR #29 OR #30 OR #31 OR #32 OR #33 OR #34 OR #35 OR #36 OR #37 OR #38 OR #39

Study design block

#41 ((randomized AND controlled AND ('trial'/exp OR trial) OR controlled) AND clinial AND ('trial'/exp OR trial) OR phase) AND 3 AND ('clinical'/exp OR clinical) AND ('trial'/exp OR trial)

#42 'randomized controlled trial (topic)' OR 'clinical trial (topic)'

#43 'randomization'/exp

#44 'double blind procedure'/exp OR 'single blind procedure'/exp

#45 'placebo'/exp OR placebo*

#46 'control group'/exp OR (control AND group*)

#47 random* OR sham

#48 (singl* OR doubl*) NEAR/3 (blind* OR dumm* OR mask*)

#49 (tripl* OR trebl*) NEAR/3 (blind* OR dumm* OR mask*)



#50 control* NEAR/3 (study OR studies OR trial* OR group*)

- #51 (nonrandom* OR non) AND random* OR 'non random*' OR 'quasi random*' OR quasirandom*
- #52 allocated
- #53 (open AND label OR 'open label') AND (study OR studies OR trial*)
- #54 (equivalence OR superiority OR 'non inferiority' OR noninferiority) NEAR/3 (study OR studies OR trial*)
- #55 (pragmatic AND study OR pragmatic) AND studies
- #56 (pragmatic OR practical) NEAR/3 trial*
- #57 (quasiexperimental OR 'quasi experimental') NEAR/3 (study OR studies OR trial*)
- #58 phase NEAR/3 (iii OR '3') NEAR/3 (study OR studies OR trial*)
- #59 interrupted AND time AND series
- #60 controlled AND 'before after' AND stud*
- #61 'comparative study'/exp

#62 #41 OR #42 OR #43 OR #44 OR #45 OR #46 OR #47 OR #48 OR #49 OR #50 OR #51 OR #52 OR #53v OR #54 OR #55 OR #56 OR #57 OR #58 OR #59 OR #60 OR #61

- #63 #8 AND #18 AND #40 AND #62
- #64 #65 AND [embase]/lim NOT ([embase]/lim AND [medline]/lim)
- Annotation: where proximity operator was not applicable AND was used in Embase.

Web of Science Core Collection (Clarivate Analytics)

Date of search: Sept 16, 2021

No publication date limitations or language limitations were applied

SARS-CoV-2/MERS block

#1 (coronavirus OR betacoronavirus OR coronavirus infection*) AND (disease outbreak* OR epidemic* OR pandemic*) (Topic)

#2 coronavirus OR betacoronavirus OR coronavirus infection* (Topic) and disease outbreak* OR epidemic* OR pandemic* (Topic)

#3 nCoV* OR 2019nCoV OR 19nCoV OR COVID-19 OR COVID19* OR COVID OR SARS-COV-2 OR SARSCOV-2 OR SARSCOV2 OR Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Corona Virus 2 (Topic)

#4 (novel OR new OR "19" OR Wuhan OR Hubei OR China OR Chinese) (Topic) and (coronavirus* OR corona virus* OR betacoronavirus* OR CoV OR hCoV) (Topic)

#5 (coronavirus* OR corona virus* OR betacoronavirus* OR SARS OR MERS) (Topic) and (pandemic* OR epidemic* OR outbreak* OR crisis) (Topic)

#6 (Wuhan OR Hubei) (Topic) and pneumonia (Topic)

#7 Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome* OR sudden acute respiratory syndrome OR SARS like OR MERSCov* OR Middle East Respiratory OR camel flu OR "EMC 2012" (Topic)

#8 #1 OR #2 OR #3 OR #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7

Workplace/personnel block

#9 work* OR workplace OR employ* OR manpower OR job* OR occupat* OR company* OR busines* OR laborer* OR labourer* (Topic)

#10 (community* or population-base* or office-base* or household or retail* or restaurant* or manufacturing or meat processing or administrators or bartenders or cashiers or chefs or cleaners or dishwashers or drive-thru operators or cooks or baker* or waiter* or supervisor* or manager* or supplier* or machine operators or tradespeople or material handlers or painters or finishers or architects or



engineers or contractors or customers or visitors or driver* or passenger* or clients or vendors or builder* or shipper* or plumber* or electrician* or technician* or police or cafe* or hotel* or accommodation or couriers or messengers or garden* or laundry or park* or sport*)

#11 (transport* or commut* or deliver* or transit or air or bus or train or rail or motor or vehicle or ship or car or taxi) (Topic) AND (employ* or work* or people or crew* or pilot or staff or team* or service or driver* or passenger* or sector*) (Topic)

#12 (maintenance or trade or market* or retail* or shop* or store* or restaurant* or construction* or on-shore or outdoor or office or domestic or sanitation or social care or public or home or secur* fire or gym* or fitness or postal or repair or packaging or labeling or gasoline or legal or court or librar* or technical or television or film) (Topic) AND

(employ* or work* or people or crew* or staff or team* or service or sector or enterprise* or entrepreneur* or dealer*) (Topic)

#13 (firstline or first-line or frontline or public or customer* or coworker* or first responder*) (Topic) AND (contact* or expos*) (Topic)

#14 (crowd* or close* or share*) (Topic)

AND (place* or space* or room* or lunchroom* or changeroom* or breakroom* or break room) (Topic)

#15 #9 OR #10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14

Intervention block

#16 protective (Topic) and device* OR ear device* OR eye device* OR glove* OR mask* OR layer (Topic)

#17 personal protective equipment OR PPE OR respiratory protective device (Topic)

#18 protect* OR safe* (Topic) and Glasses or eyeglasses or eyewear or cap or caps or equipment or garment* or clothing or clothes or apron or suits or suit or shoe* or attire or shield or gear (Topic)

#19 protect* (Topic) and Head or heads or face or faces or facial or foot or feet or hand or hands or eye or eyes or mouth or mouths or skin (Topic)

#20 facepiece* or face piece* or mask or masks or facemask* or faceshield* or face shield* or respirator or respirators or FFP1 or FFP2 or FFP3 (Topic)

#21 facepiece* or face piece* or mask or masks or facemask* or faceshield* or face shield* or respirator or respirators or FFP1 or FFP2 or FFP3 (Topic)

#22 N99 or N95 or N 99 or N 95 or FFP or P100 (Topic) and respirator* (Topic)

#23 protect* or filter* (Topic) and respirator* (Topic)

#24 coverall* or boot or boots or donning or donned or doff or doffing or doffed or face cover* or facial cover* or glove or gloves or gloving or gown or gowns or gowning or goggle* or head cover* or headwear or hood or hoods or overshoe* or shoe cover* or smock or smocks or visor or visors (Topic)

#25 (Physical or social) (Topic) and (Distanc* or contact*) (Topic)

#26 (stagger* or barrier* or bubble* or hazard* or marking* or schedule* or reschedule* or adjust* or adapt* or work or traffic) (Topic) and flow* (Topic)

#27 hand* (Topic) and (sanit* or disinfect* or wash* or clean* or hygiene*) (Topic)

#28 HVAC or HEPA or heat* or ventilat* or aircondition* or purificat* or filter* or fresh air or mist* or fog OR UV light* or ultraviolet light* or clean* or disinfect* (Topic)

#29 (telework* or telecommut*) or (tele or remote or mobile or distant* home) (Topic) and (work* or office or job) (Topic)

#30 Vaccin* OR training* OR screening OR policy* OR sick* OR absent* OR audit OR surveillance (Topic)

#31 Rapid or antigen or home-based or per or molecular-based (Topic) and self test (Topic)

#32 quarant* or self-isolat* or isoal* or outbreak or contact tracing or close* or open* or reopen* or return or return-to-work (Topic)

#33 (protect* or control) (Topic) and (measure* or source or engineering or administrative control*) (Topic)

#34 #16 OR #17 OR #18 OR #19 OR #20 OR #21 OR #22 OR #23 OR #24 OR #25 OR #26 OR #27 OR #28 OR #29 OR #30 OR #31 OR #32 OR #33

Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings (Review) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Study design block

#35 Randomized controlled trial OR controlled clinical trial OR pragmatic clinical trial OR equivalence trial OR randomly OR random*(Topic)

- #35 Interrupted time series (Topic)
- #37 Controlled Before-after study OR control before-after studies OR comparative study (Topic)
- #38 Double-blind OR single-blind OR placebo OR sham OR control group* OR tripl* blind OR trebl* blind OR dumm* OR mask* (Topic)
- #39 Non-random OR nonrandom OR quasirandym OR quasi-random (Topic)
- #40 Open-label OR open label (Topic)
- #41 Equivalence OR superiority OR non inferiority OR non-inferiority (Topic) and trials OR study OR studies (Topic)
- #42 Pragmatic OR practical (Topic) and study OR studies (Topic)
- #43 Quasi-experimental OR quasi experimental (Topic)
- $\#44\ \#35\ \text{OR}\ \#36\ \text{OR}\ \#37\ \text{OR}\ \#38\ \text{OR}\ \#39\ \text{OR}\ \#40\ \text{OR}\ \#41\ \text{OR}\ \#42\ \text{OR}\ \#43$

#45 #8 AND #15 AND #34 AND #44

Cochrane COVID-19 Study Register

Date of search: Sept 20, 2021

work* or occupation* or job* or office* or compan* or communit* or transport* or commut* or crowd* or (shar*AND space OR room*)

AND

shield* or distanc* or quarant* or clos* or open* or re-open* or schedule* or hand* or ventilation or HEPA or HVAC or administrative and control

AND

random* or controlled

Annotation: COVID-19 is already included by default in the study register, no search terms for covid are therefore included in searches here. The search strategy has been modified to fit the search interface available in the study register.

WHO COVID-19 Global literature on coronavirus disease

Date of search: Sept 20, 2021

Advanced search

work* OR occupation* OR office* OR compan* OR communit* OR transport* OR commut* OR crowd* OR (shar* AND (space OR room*))

AND

Protective device* OR PPE OR personal protective equipment OR mask* OR shield* OR glove* OR air condition* OR ventilation OR HVAC OR HEPA OR quarant* OR administrative control* OR (hand* AND (hygiene OR sanitize* OR wash* OR clean*))

AND

random* OR controlled

Annotation: COVID-19 is already included by default in the study register, no search terms for covid are therefore included in searches here. The search strategy has been modified to fit the search interface available in the study register.

Clinicaltrials.gov

Date of search: Sept 20, 2021

Condition or disease

corona virus OR coronavirus OR covid-19 OR covid* OR SARS* OR MERS*

Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings (Review) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



Other terms

administrative control* OR quarantin* OR hand* OR HEPA OR air condition* OR PPE OR protect* OR mask* OR glove* OR shield* OR work* OR occupation* OR office* OR compan* OR communit* OR transport* OR commut* OR crowd* OR share OR sharing*

International Clinical Trials Registry Platform

Date of search: Sept 20, 2021

Title

work* OR occupation* OR office* OR compan* OR communit* OR transport* OR commut* OR crowd* OR (shar* AND (space OR room*))

OR Condition

work* OR occupation* OR office* OR compan* OR communit* OR transport* OR commut* OR crowd* OR (shar* AND (space OR room*))

AND Intervention

Protective device* OR PPE OR personal protective equipment OR mask* OR shield* OR glove* OR air condition* OR ventilation OR HVAC OR HEPA OR quarant* OR administrative control* OR hand*

Filters

Restrict to COVID-19

Recruitment status is ALL

Appendix 3. Search terms or strategies for NIOSHTIC-2, HSELINE, CISDOC, and CISILO

Searched by: Daphne Hamilton-Nagorsen

Date of search: Sept 20, 2021

Search keywords:

- coronavirus AND workplace
- SARS AND workplace
- MERS AND workplace
- coronavirus AND occupational health
- SARS AND occupational health
- MERS AND occupational health
- coronavirus AND protect*
- SARS AND protect*
- MERS AND protect*

Appendix 4. RoB 2.0 tool

 $Available at {\it Available at docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/11 XBay2onrdAyxNDq6jl05r9EURhR8orF/edit#gid=1884539043$

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 9, 2021

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Conceiving the protocol: all review authors (ABP, KN, OS, EP, JEV, KJJ, CM, DM, BNS, SR, KS, TF, SD, MB)

Designing the protocol: all review authors (ABP, KN, OS, EP, JEV, KJJ, CM, DM, BNS, SR, KS, TF, SD, MB)

Coordinating the protocol and the review: ABP, MB

Writing the protocol: all review authors (ABP, KN, OS, EP, JEV, KJJ, CM, DM, BNS, SR, KS, TF, SD, MB)

Providing general advice on the protocol and the review: SD, KJJ

Screening search outputs and assessing study eligibility: ABP, KN, OS, EP, JEV, CM, DM, BNS, SR, KS, TF, SD, MB

Workplace interventions to reduce the risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection outside of healthcare settings (Review) Copyright © 2022 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Extracting and synthesising data: ABP, KN, OS, KJJ, CM, DM, SR, KS, TF, JV

Assessing risk of bias: ABP, KN, OS, KJJ, CM, DM, SR, KS, TF, SD, MB

Undertaking GRADE assessment: SD, MB

Revising the final review: all review authors (ABP, KN, OS, EP, JEV, KJJ, CM, DM, BNS, SR, KS, TF, SD, JV, MB)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

ABP has no interest to declare.

KN has no interest to declare.

OS has no interest to declare.

EP has no interest to declare.

JEV has no interest to declare.

KJJ has no interest to declare.

DM has no interest to declare.

BNS has no interest to declare.

CM has no interest to declare.

KS: part of her salary was paid to her institution by funding from the National Core Study 'PROTECT' programme, managed by the Health and Safety Executive on behalf of HM Government (UK). The grant was from 1 October 2020 to 31 March 2022. She is the statistical editor for Cochrane Gynaecology & Fertility.

SR: part of the salary was paid to her institution by funding from the National Core Study 'PROTECT' programme, managed by the Health and Safety Executive on behalf of HM Government (UK). The grant was from 1 October 2020 to 31 March 2022. She is the statistical editor for Cochrane Gut.

TF has no interest to declare.

SD has no interest to declare.

JV has no interest to declare; he is an Editor at the Cochrane Work Group, but he was not involved in the editorial assessment of this review.

MB has received research funding from an ALF grant (non-profit – Lund University) for research projects not related to Cochrane.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• Institute for Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

to MB

• WorkSafeBC, Workers' Compensation Board of British Columbia, Canada

to KN

WorkSafeBC, Workers' Compensation Board of British Columbia, Canada

to CM

• WorkSafeBC, Workers' Compensation Board of British Columbia, Canada

to OS

WorkSafeBC, Workers' Compensation Board of British Columbia, Canada

to GR



• The Research, Evidence and Development Initiative (READ-It) project, UK

Solange Durão is partly supported by the Research, Evidence and Development Initiative (READ-It) project. READ-It (project number 300342-104) is funded by UK aid from the UK government, however, the views expressed do not necessarily reflect the UK government's official policies.

External sources

• Region Skåne, Skåne University Hospital, Lund University and Region Västra Götaland, Sweden, Sweden

Cochrane Sweden is supported from Region Skåne, Skåne University Hospital Lund University and Region Västra Götaland

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

Examples of personal protective equipment (PPE) were added to Types of interventions.

Description of the risk of bias tool for cluster trials was added to Assessment of risk of bias in included studies.

We further clarified the criteria for including non-randomised of studies interventions. The text referring to interrupted time series (ITS) in the section Measures of treatment effect was deleted, as this was erroneously left over from a draft version, and there was no intention to include ITS.

We reported both rates of symptomatic PCR-postive SARS-COV-2 infection and any PCR-postive SARS-COV-2 infection, whereas in the protocol we wrote, "We accepted any definition of a case of COVID-19 provided by the authors. In the case that both suspected and confirmed cases were given for the same study, we used the most reliable measure (e.g. cases confirmed through PCR test)."

Given that absenteeism played a pivotal role in the included study, we transferred absenteeism from a secondary to primary outcome, and included it in the SoF tables.

We added 'excluding studies with missing data thought to introduce serious bias' to Sensitivity analysis.

We originally planned to convert all binary measures to odds ratios, where possible. We only had one included trial, and the results were presented as rate ratios with adjustment for clustering. There was no direct conversion in this case, so estimation would be required and accuracy would be lost. As no meta-analysis was possible, there was no advantage in conversion, so we presented infection data as rate ratios with adjustment for clustering, as reported by the trial authors.

ΝΟΤΕS

Parts of the Methods section and Appendix 1 of the protocol were based on a standard template, established by the Cochrane Work Review Group.